CUNEN X()

Higher education in TAFE: Support document

LESSA WHEELAHAN GAVIN MOODIE STEPHEN BILLET ANN KELLY GRIFFITH UNIVERSITY

This document was produced by the authors based on their research for the report *Higher education in TAFE*, and is an added resource for further information. The report is available on NCVER's website:

The views and opinions expressed in this document are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Australian Government, state and territory governments or NCVER. Any errors and omissions are the responsibility of the author(s).

© Commonwealth of Australia, 2009

This work has been produced by the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER) on behalf of the Australian Government and state and territory governments with funding provided through the Australian Department of Education, Science and Training. Apart from any use permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, no part of this publication may be reproduced by any process without written permission. Requests should be made to NCVER.

Contents

Overview	3
Literature review	4
What are mixed-sector institutions?	4
Why have mixed-sector institutions emerged?	7
Mixed-sector identities	9
Institutional identities	11
Teacher identities	15
Student identities	19
Institutional contexts for navigating student transitions in the	
dual-sectors & mixed-sectors	20
Boundary crossing & students' experience of transitions	21
Conclusion	23
References	25
Interview schedules	

Overview

This is the support document for *Higher education in TAFE* and *Higher education in TAFE: An issues paper* (both available at <http://www.ncver.edu.au>. The purpose of this support document is to:

- ♦ provide a fuller version of the literature review than in the report and issues paper
- \diamond provide the interview schedules that were used to gather the data for this project.

Literature review

This literature review explores countries with comparable systems of tertiary education to analyse the relationship between mixed sector institutions and the structure of tertiary education in those countries and the nature of the opportunities that are created for students to participate in higher education. It focuses particularly on England because of the similarities between our tertiary education systems. The literature review first revisits the definition of mixed-sector institutions that we have used in this project and the way they are differentiated from single-sector and dualsector institutions within tertiary education in Australia. It then analyses the reasons for the emergence of mixed-sector institutions in comparable countries and the way they have been constituted as a consequence of tertiary education policies. Next, it outlines a framework to analyse the development of learning cultures within mixed-sector institutions, and this is then applied to an analysis institutional, staff and student identities. The next two sections consider the institutional contexts for navigating students' transitions and students' experiences of these transitions. The conclusion suggests ways in which provision of higher education in TAFE can be supported so that it opens rather than limits opportunities for students.

The findings from this literature review are that the growth of mixed-sector institutions will become an increasingly important mechanism for expanding higher education provision and for providing access to higher education for students from disadvantaged backgrounds. However, such provision develops within and is structured by a highly stratified system of tertiary education. Consequently, while the growth of this provision may offer new opportunities for students, it may also contribute to the further differentiation and stratification of higher education. The review concludes by identifying issues arising from the literature that affect higher education in TAFE in Australia.

What are mixed-sector institutions?

There are ten TAFE institutes in five states that have been registered by their state higher education registering bodies to offer higher education qualifications, with half in Victoria. We have called these TAFEs mixed-sector institutions because most of their student load is in vocational education and training (VET) and they have a small amount of higher education provision as well. A TAFE, university or private educational provider can be a mixed-sector institution. The focus of this project is on mixed-sector TAFE institutes that offer degrees and associate degrees. Associate degrees are 'short-cycle' two-year higher education qualifications which are similar to the vocationally focused two-year foundation degrees in England.

The development of mixed sector institutions is relatively recent in Australia compared to countries with broadly similar systems. Further education colleges in Britain and community colleges in Canada and the United States have long had provision of short-cycle higher education as part of their designated roles, in addition to offering a range of vocational qualifications (Parry 2005a; American Association of Community Colleges 2003). The sectors of tertiary education in Australia have, until recently, been differentiated by the nature of provision offered in each, with VET offering competency-based qualifications and higher education offering curriculum-based

qualifications. The focus in Australian tertiary education policy has been on constructing institutional and administrative arrangements that maintain sectoral differentiation in qualifications and in institutions, but at the same time developing pathways between VET and higher education qualifications. The five dual-sector universities are one example of this approach because even though they integrate administration and student support, qualifications and teaching remain sectorally differentiated and pathways are used as the main mechanism to transcend the sectoral divide within the institution. Other institutional arrangements that have emerged to manage partnerships between the sectors whilst maintaining the distinction between them include partnerships between single-sector TAFEs and universities, and co-locations. The latter mostly consist of co-located satellite campuses of a university and a TAFE institute (and sometimes a senior secondary school campus) in regional Australia or on the outskirts of big cities (Wheelahan & Moodie 2005).

In the *Higher Education in TAFE Discussion Paper* we differentiated between single-sector institutions, dual-sector institutions and mixed-sector institutions. Single sector institutions have almost all their student load in one sector – in VET or higher education. Dual-sector institutions offer a substantial proportion of their load in each sector. Mixed sector institutions describe VET or higher education institutions with some offerings in the other sector, with these offerings being a small (if growing) part of their provision. In the Discussion Paper we proposed the following tripartite classification of institutions by their mix of sectoral student load (Moodie 2008):

- ☆ single-sector institutions those with more than 97% of their student load enrolled in one sector;
- mixed-sector institutions those with at least 3% but no more than 20% of their student load enrolled in their minority sector; and
- ♦ dual-sector institutions those with at least 20% but less than 80% of their student load enrolled in each sector.

We differentiate between dual-sector and mixed-sector institutions by considering the proportion of total student load that must be in each sector before provision from the 'other' sector is no longer considered an exception and is generally accepted as a normal part of the institution requiring formal recognition and accommodation in decision making and administrative processes. At what point does this transition take place? Trow (1974, p.63) argued that the transition from elite to mass higher education occurs when participation of the relevant age group reaches 15 per cent. The nature of the system, institutions and provision fundamentally changes at that point (this is discussed further in the next section). Moodie (2009) related this to the concept of 'tipping point' (Grodzins 1958) and referred to a number of empirical studies of different tipping points to posit that an institution is dual-sector when its student load in each sector ranges from a minimum of 20% and a maximum of 80%.

Such a classification scheme is important because of the changing character and current blurring of the sectoral divide in Australia. In contrast, the English literature uses the terms 'mixed economy' (we prefer the term 'mixed-sector') and 'dual-sector' interchangeably and does not differentiate between them. While further education colleges have always offered higher education programs in the UK this role was relatively neglected in policy until the late 1990s, which was when government designated the growth of foundation degrees in further education colleges as an important way to expand provision of higher education (Parry 2005b). However, the focus of policy was on the expansion of higher education provision in further education colleges rather than the establishment of dual-sector institutions. The notion that dual-sector institutions were somehow different and that their dual-sector character was important in shaping their institutional mission and the kinds of opportunities they offered to students is relatively recent and does not yet characterise the way these institutions see themselves. Smith

(2008, p.78) explains that the primary sectoral location of dual-sector institutions in England continues to matter, even though they:

found examples of institutions in varying degrees of transition around and across the FHE [further higher education] sector boundary. However, in some systems (e.g. Australia and Canada) there is a more developed or distinct identity of dual-sector, our case studies indicate this identity to be much less evident than the concept of 'mixed economy'. Distinctiveness, even in mixed economy institutions, continues to be defined by institutional leaders primarily in terms of attachment to a sector – further or higher education. In our case study institutions, 'duality' was rarely deployed as a meaningful aspect of organizational identity.

It is useful to distinguish between dual-sector and mixed-sector institutions in Australia because we can compare them to analyse the different kinds of demands they face and they way they construct their institutional arrangements. The demands on each type of institution are different. Dual-sector institutions must report to two levels of government and construct their internal governance, administration and policies to meet each sector's different accreditation, funding, reporting, and quality assurance requirements. Mixed-sector institutions are not yet under the same pressure as dual-sector institutions to develop dual structures and most arrangements for programs in the other sector can be handled as exceptions to their normal structures, systems and processes (Moodie 2009), even if they find these processes onerous and an obstacle to expanding their provision.

Both the dual-sectors and the mixed-sector institutions emphasise the 'seamless' transition of students from VET to higher education qualifications, but they do so in different ways. The mixed-sector institutions emphasise their vertical integration of programs and teaching whereas the dual-sectors emphasise pathways from VET to higher education qualifications by moving from one sector to the other. There are exceptions where dual-sector universities construct programs that consist of elements drawn from both sectors, but overall the emphasis is on pathways between qualifications in the sectors with credit for prior studies. Students are generally taught in the dual-sectors by different teaching staff in each sector TAFEs. While a substantial number of teachers who teach in higher education teach in these programs exclusively, somewhat more teach across both higher education and VET. In both cases, TAFE teachers are mostly located in teaching departments that contain both higher education and VET provision. In all cases in the TAFEs with higher education that were included in this project, TAFE higher education teachers are employed under the same industrial award as other TAFE teachers.

Higher education programs are less than three per cent of total student load in most of the ten TAFE institutes that offer higher education programs so these institutes do not yet have sufficient higher education student load to be classified as a mixed-sector institution, but this the trajectory in which a number of them are heading. For example, both Box Hill Institute of TAFE (2008) and Holmesglen Institute of TAFE (2008) argued in their submissions to the Review of Australian Higher Education that a new type of tertiary education institution be designated as either university colleges or polytechnics which are able to offer a range of programs from VET certificate level programs to higher education programs. Comparing mixed-sector TAFEs with dual-sector universities in Australia has been important in helping to understand how the mixed-sector TAFE institution, staff and students construct their own identities, because they do so in contrast to other TAFEs, single-sector universities, and dual-sector universities. In particular, it allows us to trace the tensions that arise from mixed sector provision, and the pressure this places on the notion of a vertically integrated institution. This is explored in the *Higher education in TAFE report*, but it was a theme that emerged from the literature and this helped to shape the design of the project and the research questions.

Why have mixed-sector institutions emerged?

Mixed sector institutions are a product of universal tertiary education systems in Anglophone countries such as Britain, the United States, Canada and New Zealand, and now, Australia. Martin Trow (1974) famously distinguished between elite, mass and universal higher education systems. Trow described a higher education system in which up to 15% of the relevant age group participate as elite, those with 16-50% participation as mass, and those in which half the population or more of the relevant age group participates as a universal system. Most industrialised countries have been progressively moving from elite to universal systems over the last 30-40 years in response to changes in society, the economy and technology (Trow 2005).

Trow argues that the nature of higher education institutions, curriculum and pedagogy changes as the system moves from being elite to mass and then universal. The purpose of elite systems is to prepare the social elite, and this is reflected in a curriculum that is based on 'shaping the mind and character' of students through highly structured concepts of academic and professional knowledge. Institutions are relatively small and homogeneous with clear boundaries that mark the academic community off from the rest of society. In contrast, the purpose of mass systems is to transmit knowledge and to prepare this segment of the population for a broader range of technical and economic leadership roles. The curriculum is modular, more flexible, and consists of semi-structured sequences within institutions that are comprehensive with standards that are more diverse and boundaries that are more fuzzy and permeable. The purpose of universal systems is to prepare the whole population for rapid social and technological change. The boundaries between formally structured knowledge and the everyday in the curriculum begin to break down, as do the distinctions between the educational institution and other aspects of life, including the workplace (Trow 2005, p.64). Access to higher education takes on renewed importance in universal systems because it mediates access to a much wider range of jobs than elite systems, and to the lifestyle and culture associated with high levels of education (Scott 2003, p.74). The Organisation of Economic Co-operation and Development (1998, p.37) explains that 'Access, therefore, is not merely to an institution but to a way of life, not for the few but for all.' Consequently, universal systems must meet two challenges: the first is to ensure that higher education provision meets the knowledge and skills requirements of the economy and society; and second, to ensure that there is equitable access.

England and Australia followed a similar trajectory in expanding their higher education provision. Both did so through the establishment of a new sector of higher education in the 1950s and 1960s resulting in a binary divide between universities and 'other' higher education institutions. In England this occurred through the creation of colleges of advanced technology in 1956 and polytechnics in the 1960s (Scott 2008, p.44). In Australia this occurred through the creation of colleges of advanced education in 1964 (Martin 1964; Davis 1989). Australia created a unified higher education system in 1988 and England in 1992. Both countries did so by redesignating CAEs and polytechnics as universities, which was accompanied in Australia by widespread amalgamations of higher education institutions with each other and with other universities (Dawkins 1988, Pratt 1999). Growth in higher education occurred first through growth in the binary higher education system, and then through growth in the unified university systems.

The result was that further education in England and TAFE in Australia were not seen as part of the higher education system, even though further education colleges in England continued to offer short-cycle higher education qualifications. This is why Parry and Thompson (2002) refer to the period until the mid-1990s as the period of low or no policy. Before the 1996 Dearing Review of Higher Education which recommended that expansion of higher education occur through foundation degrees in further education colleges, higher education provision in further education was not consistently part of broader higher education policy, funding, regulatory or quality assurance arrangements (Parry 2005a p.13). In Australia the question of TAFE's role as a provider of higher education did not arise until recent years because, unlike the UK and

UNESCO's international standard classification of education, diplomas have not been understood as a higher education qualification since the late 1970s; and because TAFE's purpose defined in policy has been to deliver competency-based qualifications designed to meet industry needs as part of a broader VET sector.

Mixed-sector institutions have developed differently in each country. In England government policy explicitly designated a role for the delivery of foundation degrees as part of a broader higher education policy framework. The 'special mission' of further education colleges in delivering foundation degrees was to widen participation in higher education by students from non-traditional backgrounds, provide access to bachelor degrees, and to contribute to upgrading the skill levels of the workforce (Parry 2005b pp.76-77). Foundation degrees are publicly funded and government developed explicit strategies and provided funding to support the development of this provision (Higher Education Funding Council for England [HECFE] 2003b) even if this did not address all the dilemmas and issues associated with the delivery of higher education in further education. In contrast, in Australia the provision of higher education in TAFE has occurred as a consequence of government policies to increase competition within a more 'diverse' marketised higher education sector. Higher education in TAFE has not, until recently, been publicly funded. TAFEs are regarded as private higher education providers that compete with other providers to deliver full-fee higher education programs. There is as yet no specific public policy role for TAFE in delivering higher education and arguably there will not be unless TAFE is able to generally access public funding for this provision. The Australian government has announced that it will introduce a 'student-driven' funding system by 2012 in higher education so that institutions are funded only if students choose to enrol there, and institutions will compete with each other for students who bring the funding with them (Gillard, 2009a). This may be a means for TAFE to obtain public funding for higher education generally. In April 2009 the government allocated 40 public higher education places to Holmesglen Institute of TAFE for the bachelor of nursing (Ross 2009a), but it has not yet indicated whether it will allocate further specific public higher education places to TAFE or include TAFEs in the 'student driven' funding system generally, with some commentators thinking that it will and others think that it won't (Ross 2009b).

The expansion of higher education in the United States took place within the existing formally differentiated systems of higher education which consists of two-year community colleges which offer two year associate degrees, four year colleges and universities which offer up to masters degrees, and the elite doctoral granting universities (Douglass 2003). Unlike further education colleges in England and TAFE institutes in Australia, US community colleges are explicitly considered higher education institutions (Dougherty 2008, p.10) and their financing, student fees and curriculum are similar to and in some states the same as those for four-year colleges and universities. Grubb (2006, p.29) explains that community colleges were first established in 1918 'as efforts to extend high school to Grades 13 and 14, and as efforts to create two-year post-secondary institutions relieving research-oriented universities of the need to provide the first two years of a four-year program.'

Unlike earlier periods of expansion of higher education which occurred through the growth of university systems, this process of expansion is occurring through publicly funded non-university providers in the more vocationally oriented sectors of tertiary education and through the growth of private educational providers in Australia and in Anglophone countries with similar systems. In the United States ten states have authorised their community colleges to offer bachelor degrees and so go beyond their traditional provision of two-year associate degrees even though this provision remains small (Community College Baccalaureate Association 2008). In Canada three provinces have approved their community colleges to offer bachelor degrees (Levin 2004). The New Zealand Government is also encouraging growth in degrees offered by institutes of technology and polytechnics 'where the impact on productive capability is the greatest' (Ministry of Education 2006, p.15).

The rationale for the development of mixed-sector institutions is twofold. First, they are seen as a key mechanism for increasing access to higher education for students from disadvantaged backgrounds (Foster 2005; Garrod & Macfarlane 2009). The prevailing view is that higher education in these settings is more accessible because the learning environment differs from that in universities. Classes are smaller and there are higher levels of student contact, and there is more emphasis on helping academically 'under-prepared' students acquire the skills they need to study in higher education. The mixed-sector TAFEs emphasised their capacity to improve access for disadvantaged and non-traditional students in their submissions to the Review of Australian Higher Education.¹ Several also argued that they are better placed to provide seamless pathways for students to higher education qualifications and that this is needed because universities have so far failed to provide the necessary levels of access. This is said to be either as a consequence of universities' institutional priorities or as a consequence of lack of support in government policy and funding (or both).

The second rationale for the development of mixed-sector institutions is that their higher education provision is putatively more vocationally oriented than that of universities. Submissions to the Review of Australian Higher Education by mixed-sector TAFEs emphasise their capacity to develop applied degrees that are more responsive to industry's needs than university degrees. In its submission to the Review of Australian Higher Education, Holmesglen Institute of TAFE (2008, p.13) argued for a new curriculum underpinned by 'an evidence-based industry-focused applied learning methodology', while Box Hill TAFE (2008, p.6) argued for 'a more industry driven and applied curriculum to meet the needs for a skilled workforce, with industry internships and projects forming an important part of the applied degree structure.' Levin (2004, p.4) explains that in the United States, 'the new community college baccalaureate has a primarily applied and workplace focus, and thus is viewed as the vehicle by which to satisfy the demands of the political economy as well as the needs of the local community.' Foundation degrees in England were explicitly designed as vocationally oriented programs within a broader strategy that designates further education's primary purpose as the delivery of skills needed for work (Parry, Thompson & Blackie 2006, pp.21-22).

Mixed-sector identities

The position of mixed-sector institutions within tertiary education systems shapes the development of institutional, staff and student identities through a relational process. Recently, researchers in England have used the sociologist Pierre Bourdieu's concepts of 'field' and 'habitus' to understand the way in which learning cultures develop in further education colleges (Hodkinson, Biesta & James 2007; Postlethwaite 2007; Postlethwaite & Maull 2007),² and this has also been used by researchers in the 'further/higher' project (Bathmaker 2008; Bathmaker & Thomas 2007; Smith 2008), which was a large research project that researched the development of mixed-sector institutions in England.³

Bourdieu defines a field 'as a network, or a configuration, of objective relations between fields' (Bourdieu & Wacquant 1992, p.97). Positions in the field are objectively defined by the way it is

¹ See: Box Hill Institute of TAFE (2008), Canberra Institute of Technology (2008), Gordon Institute of TAFE (2008), Holmesglen Institute of TAFE (2008), Swan Institute of TAFE (2008), William Angliss Institute of TAFE (2008).

² See the 'Transforming Learning Cultures in Further Education' project funded by the UK Teaching and Learning Research Programme within the Economic & Social Research Council: http://www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk/esrcinfocentre/viewawardpage.aspx?awardnumber=L139251025 accessed 6 February 2009.

³ See <u>http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/furtherhigher/</u> for research papers from this project (accessed 6 February 2009).

structured and the way power and resources are distributed. There are contests within the field 'aimed at preserving or transforming the configuration of these forces' (Bourdieu & Wacquant 1992, p.101). Habitus refers to the dispositions and orientations individuals from similar social groups share as a result of their engagement in similar social, economic and cultural environments. Those who are enculturated in the habitus of a particular field have a 'practical sense' or 'sense of the game' so they can understand and creatively use the field's implicit rules and assumptions (Bourdieu & Wacquant 1992, pp.120-121). This, for example, helps to explain the feeling of 'not belonging' experienced by many working class students who are the first in their family to attend university (Crozier, Reay, Clayton *et al.* 2008). Different 'players' (institutional and individual) are positioned differently and they come equipped with different levels of status, power, resources, understandings and orientations so that it is not a level playing field. In their research on mixed-sector institutions, Bathmaker and Thomas (2007, p.3) used Reay, David and Ball's notion of an institutional habitus or culture as part of their analysis:

They use 'habitus' to draw attention to how organisational cultures are linked to the wider fields in which institutions operate, whereby an institutional habitus embodies structures in the wider field, but there is also a process of mutual shaping and reshaping – an interplay of structure and agency, but always within the context of the power of the field. One of the things we have found is that 'hybrid' institutions do not have only one institutional culture or habitus. Instead there may be a culture that relates to the FE field, and another culture that relates to the HE field.

In analysing the way mixed-sector institutions develop, consequently, it is necessary to understand the nature of the 'field' and their position within the field. Trow's model allows us to analyse the hierarchical structuring of tertiary education and the relationships between the different elements. It is less as a prescriptive description of the sequential development of elitemass-universal higher education systems because there were many aspects which he didn't get right (see Scott 2005). ⁴ Parry (2008: 9) argues that the value of Trow's model is that it 'generates comparative and analytical questions about the division of labour accomplished between and within institutions in national and regional systems.' So rather than a universal system that subsumes all that went before, it is more accurate, as Bathmaker and Thomas (2007, p.2) argue, to see 'the current system as an elite, mass and universal system all at the same time, with different parts of the system functioning in different ways.' Trow (2005, p.36) makes this point when he says:

the evidence suggests that each phase survives in some institutions and in parts of others, while the system as a whole evolves to carry the larger numbers of students and the broader, more diverse functions of the next phase.

⁴ Trow's model has been criticised because it didn't adequately describe the 'tracked' systems of tertiary education in Europe, and he anticipated that it would take longer to develop a mass and then universal system of higher education in countries such as England. He thought that England would need to expand provision of higher education in further education colleges if they were to develop a mass and then universal system because of the scale of investment that would be needed and because it would be cheaper to sustain. Parry (2008, p.9) explains that England moved to a mass higher education system much more quickly than Trow anticipated, and that it did so through expanding provision first in higher education institutions and universities, and then through the unified system of universities following the removal of the binary divide in 1992. Moreover, the expansion of higher education took place at the same time that the sectoral divide between higher education and further education in England was reinforced. Teichler (2008, p.354) argues that Trow's concept of elite-mass-universal systems of higher education:

^{&#}x27;...was often misunderstood as characterising the different historical stages of the overall higher education system; in reality however, it refers to a growing number of sectors of the higher education system: *elite higher education* is supplemented in the process of expansion by *mass higher education* and later additionally by *universal higher education*. Thereby, the division between the sectors correspond—as a rule, but not necessarily— to an institutional division within the higher education system.'

Universal systems of tertiary education are not homogonous and they contain elite, mass and universal components. Sometimes this may characterise different components of the one institution (for example, an elite medical school situated within a middle aged, middle ranking, middle status university born during the phase of 'mass' education), but broadly speaking it reflects different types of institutions and the status hierarchies that differentiate them. In Anglophone countries the field is structured through educational policies designed to construct a competitive market. The market is characterised by competition between universities for status, prestige and resource levels. It is also characterised by competition between students for access to positional goods (social position, status, power, and jobs) (Hirsch, 1976), and students compete for the limited supply of high-status goods at high-status universities (Marginson 1997). This competition structures relations within sectors of tertiary education and between sectors of tertiary education, so that the status of higher education is above further education or TAFE, and higher education is hierarchically structured so that the elite universities are positioned at the top.

Labaree (2006, p.6), in discussing the United States, says that the 'stratified structure of higher education arose in a dynamic market system, in which the institutional actors had to operate according to four basic rules.' These rules seem apt for other Anglophone systems as well. They are:

Rule One: Age trumps youth ... (Labaree 2006, p.6)

Labaree explains that the old universities have established resources and reputations and they are enmeshed in social elites through their established role in training the country's leaders (Labaree 2006: 6).

<u>Rule Two: Rewards go to those at the top of the system</u>. This means that every institution below the top tier has a strong incentive to move up the ladder. It also means that top institutions have a strong incentive to fend off competitors and preserve their advantage...

<u>Rule Three: It pays to imitate your betters</u>. This means: the way to get ahead is to adopt the behaviors of those above you...

<u>Rule Four: At a certain point, it is more prudent to expand the system by creating new</u> <u>schools rather than increasing enrollments at existing schools.</u> Periodically new waves of educational consumers push for access to higher education, but it is not in the interest of existing institutions to provide such access. (Labaree 2006, pp.6-7)

Bathmaker and Thomas (2007, p.2) situate the English mixed-economy or dual-sector institutions within the 'universal' component of the system because of the range of qualifications they offer, and because of their location in the higher education status hierarchy. Similarly, we can see that mixed-sector colleges in Australia are part of the universal component of the tertiary education system, and that Trow's description of the nature of the institution, learners and curriculum in universal systems is particularly apt in describing what they are and what they do.

This is the framework for understanding where the mixed-sector institutions stand relationally within tertiary education, and for analysing the way learning cultures develop within those institutions. Learning cultures are shaped through interaction of all elements in the field: tertiary education policies; competition; sectoral designation; institutional cultures; teacher identities and practices; and student dispositions, orientations and levels of cultural capital. This relational analysis will be used to examine the shaping of institutional, staff and student identities in the sections that follow.

Institutional identities

Further education colleges teach around one in nine under-graduate higher education students in England although most of this provision is concentrated in a small number of colleges (Parry

2008, p.8). However, while this is a significant component of higher education provision, it still a small part of further education's total provision which is focussed on the 'skills agenda' and upgrading the skills of those who have limited or no formal qualifications (Scott 2008, p.49). Further education colleges are part of broader learning and skills sector in the same way that TAFE institutions are part of a broader VET sector in Australia. Each sector has different funding, regulatory, quality assurance and reporting arrangements and Parry (2008, p.32) argues that these arrangements 'contain and control the movement of institutions between sectors, and set its direction.' He argues that this 'non-alignment has slowed or prevented progress on the introduction of overarching frameworks, such as for qualifications and – most difficult of all – for credits' (Parry 2008, p.32). These arguments are very familiar to those involved in trying to negotiate pathways and credit transfer agreements between VET and higher education in Australia, and it is a particular issue for the dual-sector universities which have long argued that the different sectoral arrangements are an unreasonable burden on the university and that these arrangements inhibit the development of further sectoral collaboration (Wheelahan 2000). As we found in our research for this project, it is also becoming an issue for the mixed-sector TAFEs.

The decision to develop higher education provision in further education was not made within the further education sector, but was as a consequence of the 1996 Dearing Review into higher education. Parry (2005a, p.13) argues that this 'was yet another example of policy and purpose being made for further education by an external body or party, in this case the higher education sector.' This has resonances in Australia, where the Bradley Review of Higher Education has made recommendations which have far-reaching consequences for VET.

Scott (2008, p.46) argues that different organisational cultures is a factor that contributes to sectoral divergence rather than convergence. He argues that the institutional culture of universities – including the new universities – operates according to quasi-collegiate norms while the further education sector has 'more whole-heartedly embraced a quasi-commercial "corporate" culture.' This is reflected in the governance arrangements of each. Consequently, the provision of higher education in further education has been controversial because there are arguments about the extent to which further education can provide students with a higher education 'experience' as well as ensuring they meet higher education standards. The Higher Education Funding Council for England (2003b, p.2) says that:

...the development and growth of HE in FE has been controversial. Concern has been expressed about the quality (perceived and real) of the FE pathway through higher education, but this has largely ignored the rich and complex picture which is now emerging of excellent practice and a high level of professional commitment.

Parry (2005b, p.79) explains that there were low levels of trust between the Blair government and the further education sector, and this contributed to concerns about quality of its provision – not just of higher education, but also of further education. This meant that 'no one sector was prepared to take ownership and leadership of further education college based higher education provision' (Parry 2005b, p.79). Colleges were open to high levels of scrutiny of their higher education provision. Scott (2008, p.45) says that 'Although the quality assurance of higher education courses in further education has been managed according to higher education "rules", these "rules" have typically been more rigorously applied (with the result that almost the only institutions which have failed to meet the standards established by the – higher education – Quality Assurance Agency have been further education colleges).'

There is also a tension between difference and similarity in the type of higher education provision that is offered in further education so that it can be distinguished from yet be seen as equivalent to provision in universities. Colleges promote the relevance of their qualifications to work, but they must also ensure that they engage students in higher conceptual learning appropriate for higher education. Until recently further education colleges have not had the power to award their own higher education qualifications – only higher education colleges and universities could award

higher education qualifications and further education colleges delivered higher education institutions' qualifications with delegated authority from an institution by an arrangement known as 'franchising'. Colleges now can apply for authority to issue their own foundation degrees provided they meet quality assurance standards; however no college has yet been awarded this power. The Mixed Economy Group (2008, introduction, p.2), which is a group representing 29 large mixed sector colleges in England, are using this new capacity to differentiate their provision of higher education from that of universities, by defining their provision as vocational higher education.

This frees colleges from a number of University–imposed constraints and in particular enables them to deal with employer demands for higher-level training with greater immediacy. Post-secondary vocational education and training is traditionally regarded as the specialism of colleges and the new legislation now extends this remit into vocational higher education.

The problem with the old arrangements was that:

In the opinion of many colleges, progress towards a more skills-oriented curriculum has been impeded by the more traditional academic approach taken by validating institutions. As a result, many programmes continue to contain academic content which has little direct relevance to the work role of the student or the skills required by the employer (Mixed Economy Group 2008, section 2, p.2).

The tension between difference and similarity is also expressed in the way programs are delivered. On the one hand, colleges say that their provision of higher education is distinguished by their further education ethos which includes high levels of pastoral care, smaller classes, more student focused and practice-oriented pedagogy, but on the other, they must ensure that students become independent learners characteristic of higher education and that they develop the knowledge and skills associated with being a graduate from higher education. Parry, Davies and Williams (2003, p.14) found that these differences in further education colleges' higher education provision, while they exist on some dimensions, are not as great as is sometimes claimed: 'A ... compelling... conclusion of this study is the fragility of many of the claims to difference and distinctiveness.'

The pressure to ensure that further education colleges offer students a 'higher education experience' and that they meet appropriate academic standards leads to pressures towards differentiation of higher education and further education provision within colleges. In a review of higher education in further education colleges, the English Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education (2006) said that: 'The development of an HE-specific teaching and learning strategy, informed by current professional practice, can be an important first step for these colleges.' While reporting that generally speaking, further education colleges were doing a good job, the Quality Assurance Agency (2006) said that:

Colleges have a major challenge to raise the profile and understanding of HE internally and to ensure greater staff and student awareness of the demands of HE study. Many colleges have sought to develop a clear HE strategy, often reflected in the appointment of key staff and sometimes in the demarcation of designated areas for HE teaching and social accommodation.

This contributes towards pressures that help shape perceptions of teachers and students about the need to differentiate higher education provision from further education provision (Parry 2008, p.34), but this takes place within an institution that characterises itself as a further education college. Parry (2008, p.34) explains that:

it was at the senior management levels that the scale of the higher education activity relative to the 'core business' of the college was of major significance. Even where the higher level work was sizable, it might not feature fully or centrally in the strategic planning and management of the institution. This was particularly evident where higher education programmes were dispersed across the college, with no one person or part of the college responsible for their coordination. This had implications for the capacity of colleges to deal with the different funding, quality and reporting requirements of higher education, especially if this involved plural funding arrangements and multiple franchise partnerships.

Parry (2008, p.33) explains that the Higher Education Funding Council for England undertook a review of higher education in further education colleges in 2006 with the result that England is now developing a new quality assurance review method for further education colleges and a funding and policy framework that will support this provision. The likely consequence is that colleges with substantial higher education provision will be able to demonstrate they meet the criteria for providing higher education, while some of the colleges with small amounts of provision will be less likely to be able to do so, 'leading to their likely withdrawal from higher level work' (Parry 2008, p.33). The government is seeking to develop 'higher education centres' in areas where there is not strong local provision to 'unlock the potential of towns and people' and 'drive economic regeneration' (HECFE 2008, p.5). It is expected that further education colleges, particularly the mixed economy colleges, will play an important part in these higher education centres (Parry 2008, p.33).

Despite the difficulties outlined here, higher education in further education has played an important role in opening access to higher education for disadvantaged students. The report of the Foster Review of Further Education (2005, p.19) explains that further education is the main route to higher education for adults from low socio-economic backgrounds. This is a strength and a weakness; it is a strength because it provides students with opportunities they didn't have before, but it is a weakness because it means that demand for their provision will be fragile and subject to scrutiny because their students do not often have the same levels of preparation as more privileged students in the university system. Scott (2008, pp.54-55) argues that the distinctive contribution made by further education colleges to higher education:

must be described (and so justified) in social, spatial, pedagogical and even intellectual terms – social terms, because there remain important social groups reluctant to access higher education even in the most inclusive post-1992 university; spatial terms, because even in a crowded country like England there will always be higher education 'cold spots'....; pedagogical terms, because the more intimate scale of HE-in-FE offers possibilities for re-engagement between students and their teachers which are largely unavailable in mass universities; and in intellectual terms, because such re-engagement between students and teachers combined with closer engagement with local communities (defined in cultural as well as economic terms) could provide the basis for new patterns of knowledge production and dissemination very different from the scientific and scholarly paradigms which still hold sway in even the most progressive universities.

Stable or unstable institutional sectoral designations?

It may be however, that the sectoral designation of further education colleges and TAFEs becomes more unclear as their contribution to higher education grows. There is a long tradition, in Australia and overseas, of universities developing (sometimes over centuries) from institutions initially founded as trades schools, schools of mines and industries, technical colleges, colleges of art and design, business colleges, agricultural colleges, horticultural colleges and a variety of occupationally specific post-secondary schools (generically, 'vocational colleges'). Australian examples of universities that originated as vocational colleges include: Charles Darwin University, Curtin University, University of New South Wales, Queensland University of Technology, RMIT, University of South Australia, University of Technology Sydney and Victoria University. Numerous other Australian universities have over time incorporated institutions that originated as vocational colleges. Yet other Australian universities were established as higher education

colleges, typically colleges of advanced education, and were subsequently redesignated universities. This and a variety of other processes of institutional upgrading are found overseas. This process is often known as academic drift and has been studied extensively (Riesman 1956, Burgess 1972, Pratt and Burgess 1974, Neave 1979, Berdahl 1985, Morphew and Huisman 2002).

During the course of this study we found several vocational institutions that had recently started offering baccalaureates and had even more recently been designated as a higher education institution or a university. Thus the New Zealand Unitec Institute of Technology, which was founded as the Carrington Technical Institute in 1976, was upgraded to a polytechnic in 1987 and sought designation as a university in 1996. In this it is seeking to follow Auckland University of Technology which was founded as the Auckland Technical School in 1895 and was redesignated a university in 2000 (Webster 2009, p.121). In England, Smith (2008, p.29) undertook a case study of a further education college that moved from the further education to higher education sector in about 2003 and noted that this was just one example of several further education colleges in various types of transition.

In British Columbia the three community colleges that were granted the right to award degrees in 1989 were designated university colleges and two more community colleges were designated university colleges from 1990 and 1995 (Flemming and Lee 2009, p.102). Flemming and Lee (2009, p.98) argue that 'the creation of the university colleges without engaging in thorough deliberation on their role within the post-secondary system resulted in a certain ambiguity of purpose and identity within the institutions and their communities'. Levin (2004) observed that British Columbia's university colleges changed their structures and practices to emulate research intensive universities. For whatever reason, British Columbia's institution of university colleges has been transitory. By September 2008 all five university colleges had become universities, one by restructure, one by amalgamation and the others by redesignation.

In Australia, two of the ten TAFEs that offer higher education have had their names formally changed to Institutes of Technology rather than Institutes of TAFE. Four have dropped the word 'TAFE' from their web homepage and they describe themselves in various ways. Two say they are institutes, one uses only its initials as its 'branding' (similar to RMIT), and the other dispenses with 'institute of TAFE' and says that it is that city's 'leading provider of vocational and higher education'. Of the remaining four, three clearly and obviously position 'TAFE' on their webpage, and one does so in tiny text. Two TAFEs argued in their submissions to the Review of Australian Higher Education that a new type of institution be designated that potentially encompasses senior secondary school, VET and higher education up to Masters degree, and they gave these institutions the title 'polytechnic' or 'university college' (Box Hill Institute of TAFE 2008, Holmesglen Institute of TAFE 2008). The literature and the positioning strategies of Australian TAFEs that offer higher education suggest that 'mixed sector' institutions may be a point in a transition to a stronger sectoral identity. It also has significant impact on the identities of those who teach in these institutions.

Teacher identities

The interplay of sectoral relations and policies and institutional identities and priorities contributes to shaping teacher identities within mixed-sector institutions. Sectoral policy frameworks and institutional cultures interact with teachers' habitus as they work at positioning themselves within this broader environment. Learning cultures are the outcome of teachers' own priorities, understandings and practices that are enabled or constrained by the broader context in which they find themselves (Hodkinson, Anderson, Colley *et al.* 2007; Postlethwaite 2007).

Teaching higher education in further education colleges offers teachers possibilities as well as constraints as a consequence of their sectoral location, and this contributes to shaping their

perceptions of their role. In a small institutional study in a further education college that had a small amount of higher education provision, Young (2002, p.280) found that 'staff were overwhelmingly enthusiastic about their work and had felt they had benefited greatly from the opportunity to teach on the degree.' Their 'Commitment and motivation were sustained by a perception of benefits in terms of personal and academic development' (Young 2002, p.274). She said that teachers would 'acutely feel the loss of this work' if the college were to stop offering higher education programs (Young 2002, p.280).

Teachers defined their work as different to teaching in universities because their identities were more strongly associated with teaching than with the traditional academic orientation to subject based disciplines, and because of the nature of the pedagogic practices they could engage in (Young 2002, p.274). Classes were smaller than in universities, relations between staff and students were more intimate and collaborative and staff could be more flexible in their approach. This is quite different to universities 'where large student groups and research commitments of staff create greater levels of anonymity and the need for increased independence in learning' (Young 2002, p.280). Two larger studies provide evidence for Young's findings. Burkill, Rodway and Dyer (2008, p.329) found that 'HE in FE teachers operate in a context which, despite some external constraints, gives them considerable flexibility in the choice of teaching approaches even when these are defined as lectures.' Harwood and Harwood (2004, p.162) found that teachers 'revealed a high level of commitment to their students' learning and intellectual development.' Teachers enjoyed the ability to engage more deeply with subjects in their teaching areas which included being able to engage with theoretical frameworks in their field, and the enjoyed the greater freedom they had in constructing curriculum compared to other types of programs in further education (Young 2002, pp.279-280).

Teachers also defined teaching higher education programs as different from teaching further education programs, requiring different pedagogic approaches (Harwood & Harwood 2004, p.161; Young 2002, p.278). This was a benefit for the reasons discussed above, but it also caused difficulties. Those who had to teach across both further and higher education found it difficult to 'switch registers and levels' when moving from one to the other. Young (2002, p.278) says that 'Staff saw the issue in terms of the adjustments they had to make in their own thinking, and in the way they communicated with their students.' This was not just to do with intellectual content and the level of preparation that was required although these issues are very important, students in further education programs tended to be younger than those in higher education programs and Young (2002, p.279) says that some of the difficulty may be related to the difference between teaching younger and older students.

There were, however, difficulties in addition to those associated with 'switching registers and levels' between teaching in further and higher education. Young (2002, p.283) argues that the culture of further education is managerialist and anti-academic and Harwood and Harwood (2004, p.162) found difficulties arose for teachers with tyring to fit a higher education culture into a further education culture. This was compounded by teachers' sense of isolation within the college (Young 2002). Workload was a major problem because in many cases teachers are teaching higher education while on a further education industrial award with the result that they had to teach sometimes well in excess of 20 hours a week. This was the case even though preparing higher education classes took much more time because of the complexity and depth required, but also because teachers had an obligation to stay abreast of their subject.

A HECFE (2003b, p.10) report found that even where colleges tried to compensate for the extra demands on teachers' time that 'the resulting teaching load would still appear dauntingly high' to someone from a higher education institution. Teaching loads are thus related to the quality of provision but they are also related to staff development because, among other things, teachers often needed to upgrade their qualifications to ensure that staff teaching higher education were

appropriately qualified. The HECFE (2003b, p.10) report says that the 'extent to which necessary staff development can be combined with this [teaching] commitment is seen as a crucial issue.'

The findings were similar in research on United States community colleges that now offer baccalaureate degrees as well as their traditional two year associate degrees. Hrabak (2009) undertook a review of PhD studies that focused on the 'community college baccalaureate movement'. It may be expected that teaching staff would not require additional support seeing their associate degree programs were, by and large, the first two years of the four year degree, but this was not the case. Hrabak (2009, p.209) cites one PhD that focused on 'the development and needs that might change with the shift to upper-division coursework'. The findings were that:

Although it might appear that faculty do not require any extra training or support as their schools transition from lower-division coursework to offering upper-division coursework, Ross reports that the faculty called for some definite changes. The changes included time to prepare their courses in terms of course development, grading, and collaboration with colleagues inside and outside of the school. In addition to these changes, the faculty said they needed access to more resources in terms of library holdings, technology, and increased access to professional development opportunities through workshops and conferences nationwide. Overall, the transformation from two-year community college to one offering upper division coursework and conferring bachelor's degrees requires an overhaul of many of the support features and resources allotted to faculty members. These changes take time and money to make a reality, and from the results, faculty members need this extra support prior to the offering of the courses and degrees. (Hrabak 2009, p.209)

The problem of workloads and the need for staff development are consistent themes, and they are related to the complex and difficult question of scholarship. Higher education teaching staff in further education colleges emphasise the importance of scholarship to their teaching (Young 2002; HECFE 2003b; Harwood & Harwood 2004; Minty 2007; Burkill, Rodway Dyer & Stone 2008), and indeed this was a key point raised by TAFE teachers we interviewed for this project. Teachers said that they did not have time to undertake the necessary scholarship, and nor did they have time to undertake research even though many said they would like to do so. Parry (2008, p. 25) explains that colleges varied in the arrangements that they made for scholarly activity.

Arrangements varied college by college as to how much time and support was given for scholarly activity, with managers conscious of the potential for resentment from those who compared their situation with staff in higher education institutions and from those who, because they taught only further education courses, did not qualify for these entitlements.

Notions about scholarship are also contested and defined in a wide variety of ways (HECFE 2003b, p.11). Harwood and Harwood (2004, p.154) cite a 1993 English Higher Education Quality Council report which expressed concern about the level of scholarship in further education because FE teachers were traditionally interpreters of their subjects rather than originators of knowledge within the subject. However, HECFE (2003b, p.11) distinguished between scholarship and research in arguing that:

There is an important distinction to be drawn between the cultivation of a general research culture in FE, and scholarly activity which has a clear subject focus. The former is reflected in a range of activities, many supported by development funding.

Later in that report, HECFE argues that the necessary connection between research and scholarly teaching in higher education has not been demonstrated, and that it is unlikely that further education colleges will access the resources they need to establish a research culture. However, it says:

But the absence of a vibrant research cultures with FECS may be viewed as a relatively minor issue. Meta-analyses show that it is by no means clear that research is generally

central to teaching quality, and a more research-led approach to teaching may be developed without direct involvement in research. (HECFE 2003b, p.18)

If this is indeed the case, and research is not intrinsic to teaching higher education in further education/VET, it nonetheless highlights the importance of scholarship and time for teachers to engage in scholarship. The key lesson from the literature is that staff development and time for scholarship is fundamental to ensuring the quality of higher education in community colleges, further education and TAFE.

Building capacity for scholarship in further education/TAFE requires attention at the institutional level and at the national level. There are helpful examples in England, where HECFE has developed resources to support institutional leaders as well as practitioners (HECFE 2003a), through research projects such as the Further/Higher project, and through the development of higher education learning partnerships such as that at the University of Plymouth which works with over 20 further education colleges in its region to support the development of higher education in these institutions.⁵ Of particular note is the HE in FE Enhancement Programme run though the UK Higher Education Academy. The aims of this programme are:

Facilitating increased levels of coherence and communication within the HE in FE sector.

Facilitating increased engagement between the subject centres and HE in FE.

Gathering, developing and disseminating examples of effective practice of teaching, learning and assessment within HE in FE.

Supporting scholarly activity and continuous professional development for practitioners of HE in further education colleges. ⁶

One of the roles of the Higher Education Academy is to support the development of subjectspecific disciplines within higher education as a whole, and the development of subject-specific support for higher education teachers in further education colleges is emphasised (HECFE 2003b, p.12).⁷ There are 11 subject centres and most have a dedicated FE in HE page and resources, while others have HE in FE resources that can be located through searching the site. The subject centres are:

- ♦ Art Design Media
- \diamond Bioscience
- ✤ Business Management Accountancy and Finance (BMAF)
- ♦ Centre for Education in the Built Environment (CEBE)
- ♦ Education (ESCalate)
- ♦ English
- ♦ Engineering
- ♦ Hospitality, Leisure, Sport & Tourism

⁷ FE in HE resources in subject Centres in the UK Higher Education Academy <u>http://www.heacademy.ac.uk/ourwork/institutions/heinfe/scwork</u> accessed 11 February 2009.

⁵ See the University of Plymouth Colleges Faculty network – it is supported by the Higher Education Learning Partnerships and the Centre for Excellence in Teaching and Learning: <u>http://www.help-cetl.ac.uk/index.php?p=1</u> accessed 11 February 2009.

⁶ See the HE in FE programme in the Higher Education Academy at this address: <u>http://www.heacademy.ac.uk/ourwork/institutions/heinfe</u> accessed 11 February 2009.

- ♦ Information & Computer Sciences
- ♦ Performing Arts Learning and Teaching Innovation Network (PALATINE)
- ♦ Social Work and Social Policy (SWAP).

While not a panacea, such a strategy has the potential to map HE in FE into higher education overall and help to ensure the standards and quality of this provision. This is possible because further education colleges have an explicit public policy role in delivering higher education in England. If Australia seeks to expand participation in higher education through non-university providers then there is a similar obligation to support staff development and curriculum development based on the scholarship of teaching. It may be useful to consider what role the Australian Learning and Teaching Council can play in supporting the development of higher education in TAFE.

Student identities

Students' identities as higher education students are shaped by their own dispositions and orientations (their habitus) and the levels of cultural capital they bring with them to education (particularly whether they are the first in their family to go to higher education), as well as the institutional context in which they find themselves (Postlethwaite & Maull 2007; Hodkinson, Anderson, Colley et al. 2007; Bathmaker & Thomas 2007). The challenges confronting students from disadvantaged backgrounds in constructing their identities as higher education students differs from those from middle class backgrounds. Crozier, Reay, Clayton et al. (2008, p.171) found that middle class students in their study had the benefit of more preparation for university and what to expect compared to working class students, and 'Most had received advice and grooming from their schools or sixth form colleges.' They contrast this with the experience of working class students who often had negative experiences of school and, unlike middle class students, their transition into different and higher levels of education was not taken for granted (see also Bathmaker 2008, p.32). They explain that working class students must make two transitions, one is into higher education and the other is into a more middle class environment where orientations to knowledge and understandings of what it is to be a student are taken for granted, along with a social 'ease' that allows middle class students to use university as an important site for developing their social capital (see also Reay, Crozier & Clayton 2009). Working class students experience higher levels of self-doubt and uncertainty about learning in higher education that often comes from their feeling like a 'fish out of water' in contrast to middle class students who feel like a 'fish in water' (Reay, Crozier & Clayton 2009, Reay 2001). In discussing the UK, Brennan and Osborne explain that when students from low socio-economic backgrounds do go to university, they are more likely to go to the local university, and they are more likely to be older, live at home and work part-time and have complex lives. They generally have less time to spend 'on university activities beyond the immediate requirements of study' (Brennan & Osborne 2008, p.181). In a study of student engagement in Australian universities, Krause (2005, p.11) found that international students, students aged between 20 and 24 years, and students from low socio-economic backgrounds, language backgrounds other than English, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds scored lower on a scale that measured how they felt they were coping at university and how they felt they were comprehending their studies.

There is an important transition in becoming a higher education student. This is not just from further education/VET programs into higher education programs, it is also from short-cycle higher education programs to full degrees. There is extensive evidence that students experience these transitions as difficult, even though they are able to negotiate them. The literature in the United States uses the term 'transfer shock' to describe this process (Laanan 2007). Institutional research in Australia has documented the anxieties and difficulties experienced by students as

they move from VET to higher education programs, yet they still manage to perform at similar levels as other new entrants to higher education (Abbott-Chapman 2006; Cameron 2004; Milne, Glaisher & Keating 2006). There are similar findings of students moving from short-cycle higher education to degrees in the United States and England (Laanan 2007; Falconetti 2009; Greenbank 2007). Students' concerns include academic, social, and cultural transitions that must be negotiated that are often combined with work, family and economic demands.

Educational institutions consequently must respond to students from disadvantaged backgrounds making the transition to higher education by structuring inclusive learning environments that enable them to develop strong identities as higher education students. Identities are built through an understanding of the requirements of studying higher education, a capacity to engage in learning at an appropriate level, confidence that these demands can be met, and by feelings of belonging. Reay, Crozier and Clayton (2009, p.5) argue that the type of higher education institutions that working class students attend 'exerts a powerful influence on how they see themselves and are seen by others in terms of both their learner and class identities.' They explain that strong and powerful processes of institutionalisation 'and the strong academic and social guidance and channelling that underpin them, both cut across and overshadow class differences' (Reay, Crozier & Clayton, 2009, p.5).

Institutional contexts for navigating student transitions in the dual-sectors & mixed-sectors

The institutional culture of mixed-sector and dual-sector institutions contributes to shaping students' understandings of the possibilities that are open to them. There seems to be a difference in the literature in England and Australia that reflects the different institutional contexts within the dual-sectors in each country. Bathmaker (2008, p.1) found in her study of dual-sector institutions that 'Being a dual sector FE/HE institution did not currently equate with a drive to promote internal transitions' and that 'the opportunity to progress from FE to HE within one institution is not as yet an established expectation amongst staff and students even within such institutions'.

In contrast, the dual-sector universities in Australia have, in recent years, emphasised their dualsector character and used the notion of pathways and student articulation to position their university. The result is that students admitted on the basis of their prior TAFE studies to the five dual-sector universities in Australia rose from 9% in 2000 to 18% in 2007. Two universities -Swinburne University of Technology and RMIT - admitted 27% and 19% of higher education students in 2007 respectively on the basis of prior TAFE studies (Wheelahan 2009b, p.18). Students' awareness of these pathways has grown. At another dual-sector university, Milne, Keating and Shay (2006, p.2) interviewed 114 TAFE students who were planning to articulate to a higher education program at end of their TAFE course. Most enrolled in TAFE programs with the express intention of articulating to higher education. However, around one third made their decision 'in the final year, or even weeks, of their TAFE course' (Milne, Keating & Holden 2006, p.2). They also interviewed TAFE teachers in the university who estimated that 'demand' for articulation by students within their courses ranged from 10% to 90%, depending on the field of study. A large majority of TAFE students who were interested in articulating and who had applied to higher education were successful, with most applying to and going to that dual-sector university (Milne, Glaisher & Keating 2006, p.3).

In another paper, Milne, Keating and Holden (2006, p.7) found that the success or otherwise of student articulation from TAFE to higher education depends on the nature of the relationship between staff in the two sectors: collaborative relationships lead to good outcomes, whereas adversarial relationships generally lead to negative outcomes. They say that:

Critically, both personal and organisational relationships between staff in each sector affected the quality of information exchanged between the sectors and thereby passed on to students. (Milne, Keating & Holden 2006, p.7)

At the same university, Woodley, Henderson, De Sensi *et al.* (2005) found that in some fields of education, higher education selection officers would choose TAFE articulators from within the university only as a last resort, whereas in others there was a high level of student articulation because of good relations between staff across the sectors, with the consequence that TAFE students were welcomed in higher education. This shows that cultures are not homogenous within institutions. It also shows that while institutional policies to support student progression are important, it is equally important to invest resources to help teaching staff from the two sectors develop relationships of co-operation and trust. Such an institutional investment will not guarantee that good relationships develop, but they are not likely to develop in their absence (Wheelahan 2000, 2009a).

It seems that the emphasis by Australian dual-sector universities on their dual-sector character results in those universities seeking to develop institutional policies that transcend the sectors (with varying levels of success), even while teaching and programs remain sectorally differentiated. For example, several dual-sector universities have replaced their separate higher education and TAFE academic boards with one academic board for provision in both sectors. The success or otherwise of the dual-sectors in trying to 'build bridges' between the sectors is contested, fluid and controversial and will continue to be so given their location within both the VET and higher education sectors and the need to constantly renegotiate sectoral boundaries within the one institution.

In contrast, the dual-sector/mixed-sector institutions in the Further/Higher project in England seem to be concerned with engendering a higher education 'ethos', student learning experience and culture that is distinguished from the further education culture and practices (Bathmaker 2008; Bathmaker & Thomas 2007; Burns 2007) and the need to do so was a feature of HECFE (2003a; 2003b) reports. Our findings from this research are that the development of higher education in TAFE seems to be about emphasising the difference between VET and higher education provision, and there are similar concerns about the nature of the student learning experience and ensuring high academic standards.

Boundary crossing & students' experience of transitions

In both the dual-sector universities and in the mixed-sector institutions, engagement between the sectors is at the 'boundaries' where the transition from further education/TAFE to higher education takes place, and then to different kinds of higher education. It may be that negotiating these boundaries is an important part of creating opportunities for students through helping to construct their identity as a higher education student (Burns 2007; Goodlad & Thompson 2007). Michael Young (2006, p.3) argues that:

Both the terms 'further' and 'higher' and the distinction between them not only distinguish types of programme and institution — they also carry out what might be referred to as ideological and 'identity' work; they sustain identities and boundaries for both students and teachers and at the same time limit as well as enhance people's expectations and possibilities.

Boundaries are not always negative; they can enable as well as constrain (Bernstein 2000). Young (2006, p.3) argues that 'Without a sense of identity provided by the limits of boundaries, a learner loses the cultural resources that are needed to test new concepts and understandings against old – the very essence of learning.' So mechanisms for transcending the sectoral divide in the dual-sector universities can be regarded as explicit mechanisms to support students to make the

transition to higher education (even if this is always a work in progress). So too can the notion of establishing boundaries between further education/VET and higher education within mixed-sector institutions be a way of helping students make the transition to becoming a higher education student. This can be particularly important for students from disadvantaged backgrounds and can be one of the key contributions made by higher education provision in TAFE.

While boundaries can be enabling, they can also contribute to reproducing sectoral hierarchies and distinctions, which in turn can have implications for student progression and student outcomes. Bathmaker (2008, p.9) uses the concept of 'cooling out', first advanced by Burton Clarke in 1960 in the United States to refer to the argument that community colleges may shift students' focus to lower status outcomes rather than serve as a bridge to higher levels of education. Bathmaker (2008, p.9) found evidence both of 'cooling out', but also of 'warming up' in her institutional case studies. Grubb (2006, p.33) similarly uses the notion of 'heating up' to say that community colleges in the United States can also expand the range of opportunities open to students.

Bathmaker (2008, p.32) found that students in the English dual-sectors relied to a great extent on their teachers' advice about their future study options, particularly those from disadvantaged backgrounds. They relied on their teachers' advice not just on the available options; it also included shaping students' perceptions of their own options within the range of possibilities that may be available. Institutional research in Australia has found similar outcomes (Wheelahan 2001). Bathmaker found that, in many cases, students who were regarded as academically able were encouraged to transfer out of the dual-sector institution to another, higher status institution, in some cases even when there was appropriate provision was available within the initial institution. Students' access to and success in these higher status programs increase the status of the sending program, which in turn contributes to the sectoral positioning of the sending program within the institution. There were exceptions to this, and one was a specialist vocational area where the institution was held in high regard in the industry, and it was this that mattered to students. This specialist area also had good relations between staff teaching across the programs, with some teaching across both (Bathmaker 2008, p.16).

However, Bathmaker argues that sometimes 'transferring out' of the initial institution was an important part of negotiating the boundary between further education and higher education and part of challenging students' comfort zones and extending their horizons. In this case it may be that navigating the geographic boundary in moving institutions is part of navigating social and cognitive boundaries in the transition to degree level studies (Bathmaker 2008, p.134; Burns 2007). The way in which this is 'managed' may contribute to opening opportunities for students from disadvantaged backgrounds or reinforcing patterns of disadvantage. Students may not be encouraged to engage these boundaries if they are deemed to be 'weaker' or less academically able students, and traditionally such students are more likely to come from disadvantaged backgrounds. This can contribute to their developing perceptions of their study options which may leave them within an institutional context in which they are not extended even if they have moved to a higher level of study, because they are not challenged to move beyond their comfort zone of the familiar. Remaining within their geographic boundaries may make it more difficult to engage with social and cognitive boundaries. This may be appropriate, but the cost may also be that students are not able to follow opportunities that could be available to them and this is particularly problematic if their aspirations have been 'cooled' as a result of their educational experiences.

Those who have been involved in supporting student transitions from VET to higher education have emphasised the need for seamlessness between the sectors. This remains an important institutional and broader policy objective to ensure students are encouraged to continue studying, and also to ensure that administrative difficulties are not placed in their path. Implementing such arrangements requires high levels of co-operation and trust among staff in both sectors as well as appropriate policies. However, rather than regarding boundaries as always being obstacles it may be useful to explicitly acknowledge their existence and to consider the arrangements that are needed to support students in making the transition to higher level studies, so that, for example, transition programs acknowledge the academic challenges students will face and help them prepare for those. In mixed-sector TAFEs which are beginning to develop higher education provision it may be appropriate to distinguish higher education provision from VET provision as a way of providing students with opportunities to negotiate the boundaries between the two.

Conclusion

The evidence from the literature is that boundaries will inevitably be constructed as mixed-sector TAFEs develop their higher education provision. In part, this process is as a consequence of having two tertiary education sectors that report to different levels of government, and education policies that distinguish between the sectors and insist on different curriculum, funding, reporting, quality assurance and administrative arrangements. As with the dual-sector universities, this will make it more difficult than it could be for the mixed-sector TAFEs to develop their 'dual-sector' provision because these arrangements will always pull VET and higher education in different directions. Boundaries will also arise as a consequence of the sectoral location of mixedsector TAFEs, and we risk constructing large mixed-sector TAFEs that are lower in status than the 'new' universities thus reinforcing the stratification of tertiary education in Australia. As with the dual-sector universities, sectoral hierarchies may also develop within mixed-sector TAFEs as their provision of higher education grows. Mixed-sector TAFEs may also be questioned about the quality of their provision because of their sectoral location, the fact that they do not conduct research and as a consequence of their more vocationally focussed provision that is more explicitly designed to be industry 'relevant'. Questions will be asked about the extent to which it is possible for students to have a higher education experience in TAFE, and also about the academic independence of programs that have tight ties to industry. They will also be subjected to high levels of scrutiny because their students are more likely to need high levels of academic support, particularly if they come from disadvantaged backgrounds. Their staff are not likely to have the same level of research higher degree qualifications, and they will tend to have higher teaching loads which will also lead to questions about the quality of provision.

Bathmaker *et al.* (2008, p.133) point out that further education colleges are in a dependent and difficult position because they are teaching only institutions that rely on universities to validate (and sometimes fund) their qualifications. It is different in Australia because TAFE institutes must be registered as a higher education institution with their state government higher education registering body and they must get all of their programs accredited through this body. They are thus not in the same dependent relationship as further education colleges in England, but nor do they have the same independence as universities which have the authority to accredit their own qualifications. They are indirectly beholden to universities because they must prove that their qualifications are at the same standard as similar qualifications in universities. Ironically, they are under more pressure to prove that the academic standards of their qualifications are at a higher education 'level'. This may be positive and help ensure students have access to provision that is at the same standard, but it also pressures TAFEs to emulate universities and thus result in provision that is 'more of the same' rather than different. It is important to emphasise that this is not necessarily negative – it may contribute to ensuring the standing of Australia's higher education overall.

While the development of higher education in TAFE will be controversial and difficulties will arise, Bathmaker *et al.* (2008, p.133) also point out that new opportunities are created as a consequence of the development of dual-sector institutions in that country. They say that it has contributed to making the boundaries between the sectors more permeable and workable. This

has the potential to open opportunities for students, particularly those who have not had high levels of access to higher education. This potential exists in Australia as well. The fluid nature of the boundaries between VET and higher education combined with more competition between providers in both sectors mean that higher education in TAFE will grow, even if government does not explicitly support this as an important role for TAFE. There is a danger that if this happens this provision will not be regarded as at the same standard as higher education in universities, and as a consequence it may circumscribe students' opportunities, particularly for students from more disadvantaged backgrounds. Arguably, if the development of higher education in TAFE is to fulfil its potential, it requires support at national and institutional levels so that resources are made available and conducive policies and institutional frameworks are constructed. This may include consideration of:

- ♦ public funding for higher education provision in TAFEs and a place in public policy of TAFE's role in delivering higher education. TAFEs have a community service obligation in their VET provision which does not disappear with their higher education provision, and they particularly emphasise the role they can play in supporting disadvantaged students to access higher education. Public funding and a role in higher education policy for TAFE will make it possible for TAFEs to be included in higher education equity strategies and also to be held accountable for their outcomes. It will also help individual TAFEs to develop sufficient levels of provision to ensure that they are able to offer students a higher education experience in their studies;
- ☆ an 'enrolment loading' for TAFEs that enrol students from disadvantaged backgrounds in their higher education programs. The government is allocating universities an enrolment loading 'as a financial incentive to expand their enrolment of low SES students, and to fund the intensive support needed to improve their completion and retention rates' (Commonwealth of Australia, 2009: 14). This should also be made available to TAFEs that offer higher education provision because they are more likely to have to support students who are even more disadvantaged than those in the 'new' and regional universities that already have a high percentage of disadvantaged students;
- ☆ consideration of an optimal sectoral mix of provision within mixed-sector TAFEs. TAFEs that offer close to the 20% threshold of higher education provision and thus qualify as a dual-sector will be more able to develop and invest the resources that are needed to ensure the quality of that provision. If the level of provision remains marginal, its quality will be questioned;
- the development of consistent jurisdictional, governance, quality assurance and funding arrangements for tertiary education. These are key recommendations in the Review of Australian Higher Education and if implemented will help contribute to more consistent arrangements across the sectors, and will help to reduce inexorable pressures for administrative and organisational separation of higher education and VET provision within mixed-sector TAFEs;
- support for staff development and curriculum development within TAFEs. Each sector has national policies and frameworks to support the development of curriculum and pedagogic practices that will result in quality outcomes. However, there is no framework at the moment for supporting the development of higher education provision outside universities, even though such provision is likely to grow. Individual TAFEs are investing in developing communities of practice around their higher education provision (Renwick & Burrows 2008), and also in support this level of staff development because they are just beginning to develop the institutional capacity that is needed to sustain a vibrant higher education culture. As suggested earlier, it may be useful to consider what role the Australian Learning and Teaching Council can play in supporting the development of higher education in TAFE, and it may be useful to consider funding other partnerships that can develop communities of practice to support TAFE's provision of higher education as exemplified earlier by the University of Plymouth partnership with its regional further education colleges;

- ★ a tertiary education award for staff working within mixed-sector institutions so that more realistic teaching loads can be negotiated that take account of the additional work required to teach higher education programs, and career pathways for TAFE teachers that enable them to become higher education teachers if they wish to do so. This possibility is not currently open to TAFE teaching staff in the dual-sector universities and if it were it would arguably do much to reduce sectoral tensions. The possibility of more flexible career pathways in mixed-sector TAFEs may help mitigate pressures towards entrenching sectoral distinctions among teaching staff;
- A realistic understanding by institutional leaders of the challenges teaching staff confront in teaching higher education programs while on TAFE teaching conditions. Quality provision is premised on staff having the time to engage in scholarship. This is one of the strongest themes in the literature and one of the strongest themes to emerge from our interviews with TAFE teaching staff;
- ♦ development of transition programs within TAFEs to support students moving from VET to higher education programs, and transition programs to support students moving from associate degrees in TAFEs to degrees in universities. The extensive literature on transfer shock in the United States shows that this transition is difficult for students even if they are moving from a lower level higher education program to a higher level program, because of the different learning environment, expectations and requirements; and
- ☆ institutional strategies to develop pathways from TAFE's higher education programs to higher education programs in universities, either from associate degrees to degrees, or from degrees to post-graduate qualifications. This will raise the status of TAFE's programs and open new opportunities for students.

References

- Abbott-Chapman, Joan (2006), 'Moving from technical and further education to university: an Australian study of mature students,' *Journal of Vocational Education and Training*, 58 Vol., 1 No.: 1-17.
- American Association of Community Colleges (2003), 'Community Colleges Past to Present,' American Association of Community Colleges Website, accessed 29 November 2003, Washington, http://www.aacc.nche.edu/Content/NavigationMenu/AboutComm.
- Bathmaker, Ann-Marie (2008), Universal access and dual regimes of further and higher education (The FurtherHigher Project) working paper 5: fieldwork studies, viewed 31 January 2009
 - <http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/furtherhigher/workingpapers.html>
- Bathmaker, Ann-Marie, Brooks, Greg, Parry, Gareth and Smith, David (2008), 'Dual-Sector Further and Higher Education: Policies, Organisations and Students in Transition,' Research Papers in Education 23 Vol., 2 No.: 125 - 137.
- Bathmaker, Ann-Marie and Thomas, Will (2007), 'Positioning themselves: an exploration of the nature and meaning of transitions in the context of dual sector FE/HE institutions in England', 4th International Conference, Centre for Research in Lifelong Learning, 'The Times they are a-changin - researching transitions in lifelong learning, University of Stirling, Scotland, 22 - 24 June 2007, <http://www.theresearchcentre.co.uk/reports/he0029.pdf>.
- Berdahl, R O (1985) Strategy and government: U.S. state systems and institutional role and mission, International *Journal of Institutional Management in Higher Education* 9 (November), pp 301–307, cited in Morphew and Huisman (2002: 491).
- Bernstein, Basil (2000), Pedagogy, Symbolic Control and Identity, 2nd ed., Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Oxford.

Bourdieu, Pierre and Wacquant, Loïc J.D. (1992), An Invitation to Reflexive Sociology, Polity Press, Cambridge.

- Box Hill Institute of TAFE (2008), Submission to the Review of Australian Higher Education, Melbourne, viewed 3 February 2009 http://www.dest.gov.au/NR/rdonlyres/6E61D22F-6E6F-40EE-9EF0-0FF8C80529EE/23768/352BoxHillInstitute.pdf
- Bradley, Denise (Chair) (2008), Review of Australian Higher Education Final Report, Department of Education, Employment & Workplace Relations, Canberra.

<http://www.deewr.gov.au/HigherEducation/Review/Documents/PDF/Higher%20Education%20 Review_one%20document_02.pdf>. Brennan, John and Osborne, Mike (2008), "Higher education's many diversities: of students, institutions and experiences; and outcomes?," Research Papers in Education, 23, (2): 179 - 190.

Burgess, T (1972) The shape of higher education, Cornmarket Press, London.

- Burkill, Sue, Rodway Dyer, Sue and Stone, Mark (2008), 'Lecturing in higher education in further education settings,' *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 32 Vol., 4 No.: 321 331.
- Burns, Diane (2007), 'Conceptualising and interpreting organizational boundaries between further and higher education in "dual sector" institutions: where are they and what do they do?' *4th International Conference, Centre for Research in Lifelong Learning, 'The Times they are a-changin researching transitions in lifelong learning*, University of Stirling, Scotland, 22 24 June 2007, viewed 13 February 2009 http://www.shef.ac.uk/content/1/c6/05/67/89/DBurnsPaperCRLLConference%20June07%5B1%5D.doc>.
- Cameron, Helen (2004), 'Paving the Way? The Path to Uni for TAFE Students', *First Year in Higher Education 2004 Conference 'Dealing With Diversity* ', Monash University, Melbourne, viewed 13 February 2009 http://www.fyhe.qut.edu.au/past_papers/Papers04/003.doc>.
- Canberra Institute of Technology (2008), *Submission to Review of Australian Higher Education*, Canberra, viewed 6 February 2009 http://www.dest.gov.au/NR/rdonlyres/EEBFFD6C-6A56-447C-859C-CF4B7B5813B0/23118/038CITsub.pdf>.
- Commonwealth of Australia (2009), *Transforming Australia's higher education system*, viewed 12 May 2009 http://home.deewr.gov.au/Budget/documents/TransformingAusHigherED.pdf>.
- Community College Baccalaureate Association (2008), Home, Florida viewed 17 October 2008 http://www.accbd.org>.
- Crozier, Gill, Reay, Dianne, Clayton, John , Colliander, Lori and Grinstead, Jan (2008), 'Different strokes for different folks: diverse students in diverse institutions experiences of higher education,' *Research Papers in Education*, 23 Vol., 2 No.: 167 177.
- Davis, Susan (1989) The Martin Committee and the binary policy of higher education in Australia, Ashwood House, Melbourne.

Dawkins, John (1988), Higher Education: A Policy Statement: White Paper, AGPS, Canberra.

Dougherty, Kevin (2008), 'English further education through American eyes', Universal Access and Dual Regimes of Further and Higher Education (The FurtherHigher Project) Working Paper 1: International and Contextual Studies, in K. Dougherty, Gallacher, J., Jones, G., Moodie, G., Scott, P., & Stanton, G. (eds.), School of Education University of Sheffield, Sheffield, 4-18, viewed 2 February <http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/content/1/c6/09/05/55/Microsoft%20Word%20-%20WorkingPaper1InternationalandContextualStudies.pdf>

Douglass, John Aubrey (2003), The Dynamics of Massification: A Comparative Look at Higher Education Systems in the UK and California, Oxford Center for Higher Education Policy Studies, New College, University of Oxford, viewed 4 February 2004

<http://oxcheps.new.ox.ac.uk/MainSite%20pages/Resources/John%20Douglass.pdf>.

- Falconetti, Angela M. Garcia (2009), '2+2 Statewide Articulation Policy, Student Persistence, and Success in Florida Universities ' Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 33 Vol., 3 & 4 No.: 238 255
- Flemming, R & Lee, GR 2009, 'What's in a title?', in Challenging boundaries. *Managing the integration of post*secondary education, N Garrod & B Macfarlane (eds), Routledge, Taylor and Francis, New York.
- Foster, Andrew (2005), Realising the Potential: A review of the future role of further education colleges (The Foster Review), Ref 1983-2005DOC-EN, November, Department for Education and Skills, Annesly, viewed 13 February

<http://www.dfes.gov.uk/furthereducation/index.cfm?fuseaction=content.view&CategoryID=20&C ontentID=18>.

- Garrod, Neil and Macfarlane, Bruce (2009), 'Further, Higher, Better?' *Challenging boundaries: managing the integration of post-secondary education*, in N. Garrod and Macfarlane, B. (eds.), Routledge., London, 3-12.
- Goodlad, Cate and Thompson, Val (2007), 'Dream weavers and dream catchers: exploring the aspirations and imagined futures of students in transition from further education to higher education', 4th International Conference, Centre for Research in Lifelong Learning, 'The Times they are a-changin - researching transitions in lifelong learning', University of Stirling, Scotland, 22 - 24 June, 2007, viewed 13 February 2009 <http://www.shef.ac.uk/furtherhigher/papers.html>
- Gordon Institute of TAFE (2008), Submission to the Review of Australian Higher Education, Geelong. viewed 3 February 2009 < http://www.dest.gov.au/NR/rdonlyres/936130A4-DC87-4B30-B860-BABC751C1836/23405/217GordonInstituteofTAFE.pdf>.

Greenbank, Paul (2007), 'From foundation to honours degree: the student experience,' *Education and Training*, 49 Vol., 2 No.: 91-102.

Grodzins, M (1958), The metropolitan area as a racial problem, University of Pittsburgh Press, Pittsburgh.

Grubb, W. Norton (2006), 'Vocationalism and the differentiation of tertiary education: lessons from US community colleges,' *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 30 Vol., 1 No.: 27-42.

- Harwood, June and Harwood, David (2004), 'Higher education in further education: delivering higher education in a further education context—a study of five South West colleges,' *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 28, Issue 2 May 2004, pages Vol., 2 No.: 153 164.
- Higher Education Funding Council for England (2003a), Supporting higher education in further education colleges: A guide for tutors and lecturers, HECFE, Bristol, viewed 13 February 2009 http://www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/hefce/2003/03_15.htm
- Higher Education Funding Council for England (2003b), Supporting higher education in further education colleges: Policy, practice and prospects, HECFE, Bristol, viewed 13 February 2009 http://www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/hefce/2003/03_16.htm
- Higher Education Funding Council for England (2008), A new 'University Challenge': consultation on proposals for new higher education centres, HECFE, Bristol, viewed 13 February 2009, http://www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/hefce/2008/08_27/08_27.pdf
- Hirsch, F. (1976), Social limits to growth, Routledge & Kegan Paul, London.
- Hodkinson, Phil, Anderson, Graham, Colley, Helen, Davies, Jenny, Diment, Kim, Scaife, Tony, Tedder, Mike, Wahlberg, Madeleine and Wheeler, Eunice (2007), 'Learning Cultures in Further Education,' *Educational Review*, 59 Vol., 4 No.: 399-413.
- Hodkinson, Phil, Biesta, Gert and James, David (2007), 'Understanding learning cultures,' *Educational Review*, 59 Vol., 4 No.: 415-427.
- Holmesglen Institute of TAFE (2008), Higher Education at the Crossroads: Submission to the Australian Review of Higher Education, Melbourne, viewed 3 February 2009
- <http://www.backingaustraliasfuture.gov.au/submissions/crossroads/pdf/164.pdf>. Hrabak, Michael R. (2009), "The Community College Baccalaureate Movement: Cutting-Edge Dissertation Research," *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 33 Vol., 2 No.: 203-212.
- Krause, Kerri-Lee (2005), 'Understanding and promoting student engagement in university learning communities', at 'Engaged, inert or otherwise occupied?: Deconstructing the 21st century undergraduate student', Sharing Scholarship in Learning and Teaching: Engaging Students, James Cook University, Townsville/Cairns, Queensland, 21-22 September 2005, viewed 22 May 2009 <www.cshe.unimelb.edu.au/pdfs/Stud_eng.pdf>.
- Laanan, Frankie Santos (2007), 'Studying Transfer Students: Part II: Dimensions of transfer students' adjustment,' *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 31 Vol.No.: 35-39.
- Labaree, David F. (2006), Markets, Politics, and American Higher Education: An Institutional Success Story, September 24, School of Education, Standford University, Standford, viewed 6 March 2007 <http://www.stanford.edu/~dlabaree/Markets,%20Politics%20and%20US%20Higher%20Ed%20Pa per%20ver%207.pdf>.
- Levin, John S. (2004), 'The Community College as a Baccalaureate-Granting Institution,' The Review of Higher Education, 24 Vol., 1 No.: 1-22.
- Levin, John S., Beach, Josh M. and Kiske, Carrie B. (2009), 'Educational Attainment Skewed in California Community Colleges?,' *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 33 Vol., 3 & 4 No.: 256 - 269. Marginson, Simon (1997), *Markets in Education*, Allen & Unwin, St Leonards.
- Martin, L H (chair) (1964), Australian Universities Commission, Committee on the Future of Tertiary Education in Australia Report, , Government Printer, Canberra.
- Milne, Lisa, Glaisher, Sue and Keating, Shay (2006), *Making articulation work: TAFE to higher education at Victoria University*, Postcompulsory Education Centre, Victoria University, Victoria, viewed 13 February 2009, http://tls.vu.edu.au/PEC/reports.htm>.
- Milne, Lisa, Keating, Shay and Holden, Sue (2006), Promises but not guarantees: movement from TAFE to higher education in a dual sector university ', *Australian Association for Research in Education National Conference*, Adelaide, viewed 10 March 2007 <http://www.aare.edu.au/06pap/mil06287.pdf>.
- Ministry of Education (2006), Tertiary education strategy 2007-12, Ministry of Education, Wellington, accessed 4 June 2008, http://www.minedu.govt.nz/web/downloadable/dl11727_v1/tes-2007-12-incorp-step-2008-10.pdf>.
- Minty, Ian (2007), Developing research capabilities in FE lecturers through practitioner led action research, Escalate report, January, Lews Castle College, UHI Millennium Institute, Isle of Lewis, viewed 11 February 2009, http://escalate.ac.uk/1503>.
- Mixed Economy Group (2008), Response of the Mixed Economy Group, Author, London, viewed 11 February 2009, http://www.cihe-uk.com/docs/AACC/0806AACCMEGBackground.pdf>.
- Moodie, Gavin (2008), "The significance of Australian vocational education institutions in opening access to higher education', *Working Paper 1: International and Contextual Studies (The Further/Higher Project)* in K. Dougherty, Gallacher, J., Jones, G., Moodie, G., Scott, P., & Stanton, G. (eds.), School of Education, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, viewed 31 January 2009,
 - <http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/furtherhigher>.

- Moodie, Gavin (2009), 'Australia: The Emergence of Dual Sector Universities', *Challenging boundaries: managing the integration of post-secondary education*, in N. Garrod and Macfarlane, B. (eds.), Routledge., London.
- Morphew, Christopher C and Huisman, Jeroen (2002) Using institutional theory to reframe research on academic drift, *Higher Education in Europe*, volume XXVII, number 4, pp 491-506.
- Neave, G. (1979) Academic drift: some views from Europe. *Studies in Higher Education* 4, number 2, pp. 143-59.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (1998), Redefining Tertiary Education, OECD, Paris.
- Parry, Gareth (2005a), 'The Collegiate and Transfer Functions of Further Education Colleges in the United Kingdom', Annual Conference of the Council for the Study of Community Colleges, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, 8-9 April 2005, viewed 13 February 2009,

<http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/content/1/c6/05/67/89/Prof%5B1%5D._Gareth_Parrys_article%28Jo urnal%29.pdf>.

- Parry, Gareth (2005b), 'Higher education in the learning and skills sector: England', *A contested landscape: International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education*, in J. Gallacher and Osborne, M. (eds.), NIACE, Leicester.
- Parry, Gareth (2008), Working Paper 2 Policy Studies Universal Access and Dual Regimes of Further and Higher Education (The FurtherHigher Project), School of Education, University of Sheffield, Sheffield. viewed 6 February 2009, http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/content/1/c6/09/05/55/Microsoft%20Word%20-%20WorkingPaper2%5B2%5D_Policy_Studies%5B1%5D.pdf>.
- Parry, Gareth, Davies, Pat and Williams, Jenny (2003), Dimensions of difference: higher education in the learning and skills sector, Learning and Skills Development Agency, Department for Education and Skills, UK, London, viewed 13 February 2009, < http://www.theresearchcentre.co.uk/reports/he0008.pdf>.
- Parry, Gareth and Thompson, Anne (2002), *Closer by degrees: the past, present and future of higher education in* further education colleges, Learning and Skills Development Agency, London. viewed 13 February 2009, < http://www.theresearchcentre.co.uk/reports/he0007.pdf>.
- Parry, Gareth, Thompson, Anne and Blackie, Penny (2006), *Managing Higher Education in Colleges*, Continuum, London.
- Postlethwaite, Keith (2007), 'Boundary crossings in research: towards a cultural understanding of the research project 'Transforming Learning Cultures in Further Education',' *Educational Review*, 59 Vol., 4 No.: 483-499.
- Postlethwaite, Keith and Maull, Wendy (2007), 'Understanding students' changing perceptions of their learning environments in four FE colleges in England,' *Educational Review*, 59 Vol., 4 No.: 429-449.
- Pratt, John (1999), 'Policy and policymaking in the unification of higher education,' *Journal of Educational Policy*, 14 Vol., 3 No.: 257-269.
- Pratt, J and T Burgess (1974) Polytechnics: a report, Pitman, London.
- Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education (2006), *Learning from Higher Education in Further Education 2003-05*, QAA, Gloucester, viewed 10 February 2009,

http://www.qaa.ac.uk/reviews/academicReview/learningfromheInFe05/HeFe05.asp>.

Reay, Dianne (2001), 'Finding or losing yourself?: working class relationships to education,' *Journal of Education Policy*, 16, (4): 333-346.

Reay, Diane, Crozier, Gill and Clayton, John (2009), "Fitting in" or "standing out": working-class students in UK higher education,' *British Educational Research Journal*, early online.

- Riesman, D (1956) *Constraint and variety in American education*, University of Nebraska Press, Lincoln, cited in Morphew and Huisman (2002: 492).
- Renwick, Kerry and Burrows, Jennifer (2008), 'Metacognition and adaptive expertise building research capability through effective use of online technology', *17th National Vocational Education and Training Research Conference (No Frills)*, Launceston, Tas., July 2008, viewed 13 February 2009 .">http://www.voced.edu.au/search/index.php?author=Burrows&searchtype=full&quantity=1&sort_by=d_publication_year_tx&hitstart=1>.
- Ross, John (2009a), 'Holmesglen receives nursing places,' Campus Review, 14 April, Sydney, viewed 22 May 2009 http://www.campusreview.com.au/pages/section/article.php?idArticle=6951>.
- Ross, John (2009b), 'No place for TAFE in student-centred higher ed?,' Campus Review, 18 May, Sydney, viewed 22 May 2009

<http://www.campusreview.com.au/pages/section/article.php?s=News&idArticle=7289>.

- Scott, Peter (2003), '1992-2002: Where next?,' Perspectives: Policy and Practice in Higher Education, 7 Vol., 3 No.: 71-75.
- Scott, Peter (2005), 'Mass higher education ten years on,' *Perspectives: Policy and Practice in Higher Education*, 9 Vol., 3 No.: 68-73.
- Scott, Peter (2008), 'English higher and further education: a commentary', Working Paper 1: International and Contextual Studies (The Further/Higher Project) in K. Dougherty, Gallacher, J., Jones, G., Moodie, G., Scott,

P., & Stanton, G. (eds.), School of Education, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, viewed 31 January 2009 http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/furtherhigher>

- Smith, David (2008), Working paper 4: Organisational Studies, Universal Access and Dual Regimes of Further and Higher Education (The FurtherHigher Project), School of Education, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, viewed 31 January 2009 http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/furtherhigher>
- Swan Institute of TAFE (2008), Higher Education Review Swan TAFE Response, Perth. viewed 3 February 2009, <http://www.dest.gov.au/NR/rdonlyres/94D7ECB5-40BB-4471-9E1B-5B73A845B99F/23417/249SwanTAFE.pdf>.
- Teichler, Ulrich (2008), 'Diversification? Trends and explanations of the shape and size of higher education' *Higher Education*, 56 Vol., 3 No.: 349-379.
- Trow, Martin (1974), 'Problems in the Transition from Elite to Mass Higher Education,' *Policies for Higher Education*, OECD Vol., Paris No.: 51-101.
- Trow, Martin (2005), Reflections on the Transition from Elite to Mass to Universal Access: Forms and Phases of Higher Education in Modern Societies since WWII, WP2005-4, Institute of Governmental Studies, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, viewed 13 February 2009,
- <http://repositories.cdlib.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1046&context=igs>. Webster, John (2009), 'New Zealand: The Impact of the Market', in Garrod, N. and Macfarlane, B. (eds.), Challenging Boundaries: Managing the Integration of Post-secondary Education, London: Routledge, 111-126.
- Wheelahan, Leesa (2000), Bridging the divide: developing the institutional structures that most effectively deliver crosssectoral education and training, National Centre for Vocational Education Research, Adelaide, South Australia, viewed 13 February 2009, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/509.html>.
- Wheelahan, Leesa (2001), The 'best fit' or 'screening out': an evaluation of learning pathways at Victoria University, Victoria University of Technology, Melbourne.
- Wheelahan, Leesa (2009a), 'Post-secondary education and social justice', *Challenging boundaries: managing the integration of post-secondary education*, in N. Garrod and Macfarlane, B. (eds.), Routledge., London.
- Wheelahan, Leesa (2009b), 'What kind of access does VET provide to higher education for low SES students? Not a lot.', Student equity in higher education: What we know. What we need to know, National Centre for Student Equity in Higher Education, University of South Australia, 25 & 26 February, viewed 10 March 2009 http://www.unisa.edu.au/hawkeinstitute/events/default.asp>.
- Wheelahan, Leesa and Moodie, Gavin (2005), 'Separate post-compulsory education sectors within a liberal market economy: interesting models generated by the Australian anomaly', *A contested landscape: International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education*, in J. Gallacher and Osborne, M. (eds.), NIACE, Leicester.
- William Angliss Institute of TAFE (2008), A response to the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations Review of Australian Higher Education Discussion Paper, written by Professor Denise Bradley, Melbourne, viewed 3 February, http://www.dest.gov.au/NR/rdonlyres/7ACC9A66-5F27-4606-95FB-BD79E31A5CF5/23449/206WilliamAnglissInstituteofTAFE.pdf>.
- Woodley, Carolyn, Henderson, Fiona, De Sensi, Maria and Gabb, Roger (2005), Selection processes and pathways: TAFE to higher education, 12 October, Postcompulsory Education Centre, Victoria University, Melbourne, viewed 13 February 2009 http://tls.vu.edu.au/PEC/reports.htm>.
- Young, Michael (2006), 'Further and higher education: a seamless or differentiated future?,' *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 30 Vol., 1 No.: 1-10.
 - Young, Pat (2002), 'Scholarship is the word that dare not speak its name' Lecturers' Experiences of Teaching on a Higher Education Programme in a Further Education College '*Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 26 Vol., 3 No.: 273 - 286

Interview schedules

Title of Project:	Higher Education in TAFEs
Duration:	2008-2009
Funding Body:	National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program
Chief Investigators:	Dr Leesa Wheelahan, Dr Gavin Moodie, Professor Stephen Billett and Dr Ann Kelly

Background to the project:

This project will research the provision of higher education (HE) in TAFE. TAFE institutes now offer full-fee associate degrees and degree programs in five states. This provision is likely to increase as a consequence of Commonwealth and state government policies that encourage diversity and competition among educational providers in both the vocational education and training and higher education sectors. Very little is known about the nature of these programs, how they have been designed and implemented, the purposes they are designed to meet, the impact they are having on partnerships with universities and with industry partners, whether they open opportunities for students, and how they are perceived by participants.

Aims:

This project will research the way in which and the reasons why TAFEs are offering higher education qualifications and the internal governance, institutional, administrative and policy arrangements they have developed to support this provision. It will also investigate how student and staff VET and HE identities are formed and shaped through the provision of HE in TAFE, and the way these boundaries are navigated within TAFE.

Approach:

The data collection for this study will be implemented in two stages, namely through a review of national and international literature and desktop research, and through interviews with:

- ♦ senior managers in TAFEs offering Higher Education courses
- ☆ a combination of teachers in TAFE who: deliver HE courses exclusively; deliver both VET and HE courses; and those who deliver high level VET qualifications exclusively
- ♦ students enrolled in HE courses in TAFEs
- ♦ senior managers in a TAFE that is planning to offer HE courses
- ♦ senior managers in a state in two TAFES not currently offering HE
- ♦ senior managers in a dual-sector university
- ♦ relevant staff in those state Offices of Higher Education.

The team will use the data to further understandings about the nature of these programs, how they have been designed and implemented, the purposes they are designed to meet, the impact they are having on partnerships with universities and with industry partners, whether they open opportunities for students, and how they are perceived by participants. A number of recommendations for the implementation of such programs will be made as a result of the study.

Outcomes:

The results of the study will be distributed in the following ways: a discussion paper; message briefs; a written report to NCVER that will be published on the web and in hard copy, conference papers and one or more articles in peer-reviewed journals. All participants will be advised when the research has been published by NCVER so they can download the report (for free) from the web.

Faculty of Education Higher education in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes Schedule B (Directors of HE in TAFE)

This interview is part of a project that has been funded by National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program that aims to gather information about the features of emerging 'higher education' provision (such as associate degrees and degrees) in TAFE institutions. We are seeking to understand why higher education programs are being offered now by TAFE, the purposes they are designed to meet, how TAFE is developing this provision and their likely educational and institutional consequences. Please contribute freely. All the data gathered will be treated confidentially and presented anonymously.

Section One: About you

- 1.1 Please briefly outline your experience in tertiary education, including that as an educational director
- 1.2 In what ways have you been involved in higher education programs within TAFE?

Section Two: Higher education programs in your institution

- 2.1 What kinds of higher education programs are offered in your institution (e.g. extent and areas)?
- 2.2 What kind of student numbers do you have in these programs (as an estimate)?
- 2.3 What plans does your institution have to develop new higher education programs (e.g. extent and areas)?

Section Three: Kinds and qualities of these programs

- 3.1. Why are TAFE institutions offering higher education programs now?
- 3.2. How are higher education programs in TAFE different from those offered in universities?
- 3.3. How are higher education programs in TAFE different from other programs offered through TAFE?
- 3.4. What is the worth of having higher education programs in TAFE?
- 3.5. What should be the key and defining characteristics of higher education programs in TAFE?
- 3.6. What are the limitations of these arrangements?

Section Four: Processes of program development

- 4.1. How have external stakeholders, such as industry and Office of Higher Education, shaped the program objectives, content and assessment practices?
- 4.2. What governance, administrative and quality assurance arrangements has your institution developed to support your higher education provision?
- 4.3. What impact, if any, do the different sectoral funding, reporting, and quality assurance arrangements have on the development of higher education programs in your institution?

Section Five: Program provision

- 5.1. What are the key challenges for TAFE institutions when offering higher education programs?
- 5.2. What specific development is required for those who have to teach and assess in these programs?
- 5.3. What kinds of arrangements are needed to maintain the quality of programs and standards of outcomes?
- 5.4. What kinds of educational pathways would realise the best opportunities for higher education students within TAFE?
- 5.5. What kind of partnerships do you have with universities and how has your institution's provision of higher education affected these partnerships?

Section Six: Likely educational and institution implications

- 6.1. In what ways will relations between tertiary education sectors change as a result of TAFE institutes offering higher education qualifications and programs?
- 6.2. How should policy and practices within the post-compulsory education sector in Australia be changed to support these kinds of programs?
- 6.3. What impact will the provision of higher education in TAFE have on the way TAFE students and teachers think about themselves? How will they describe what they do?
- 6.4. What will be the legacy of these changes in ten years' time?

Are there any final comments that you would like to make about higher education provisions within TAFE?

Thank you for contribution to this research.

Leesa Wheelahan, Gavin Moodie, Stephen Billett and Ann Kelly

Faculty of Education Higher education in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes Schedule C (Program developers)

This interview is part of an NCVER funded project that aims to gather information about the features of emerging 'higher education' provision in TAFE institutions. We are seeking to understand why higher education programs are being offered now by TAFE, the purposes they are designed to meet, how TAFE is developing this provision and their likely educational and institutional consequences. Please contribute freely. All the data gathered will be treated confidentially and presented anonymously.

Section One: About you

- 1.1 Please briefly outline your experience in vocational education, including that as a program developer.
- 1.2 In what ways have you been involved in higher education programs within TAFE?

Section Two: Higher education programs in your institution

- 2.1 What kinds of higher education programs are offered in your institution (e.g. extent and areas)?
- 2.2 What plans does your institution have to develop new higher education programs (e.g. extent and areas)?

Section Three: Kinds and qualities of these programs

- 3.1 Why are TAFE institutions offering higher education programs now?
- 3.2 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from those offered in universities?
- 3.3 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from other programs offered through TAFE?
- 3.4 What is the worth of having higher education programs in TAFE?
- 3.5 What should be the key and defining characteristics of higher education programs in TAFE?
- 3.6 What are the limitations of these arrangements?

Section Four: Processes of program development

- 4.1 In what ways do the AQF levels and descriptors shape higher education programs in TAFE?
- 4.2 How have external stakeholders, such as industry and Office of Higher Education, shaped the program objectives, content and assessment practices?
- 4.3 How have internal stakeholders (i.e. teachers, administrators) shaped the program objectives, content and assessment practices?

Section Five: Program provision

- 5.1 What are the key challenges for TAFE institutions when offering higher education programs?
- 5.2 What specific development is required for those who have to teach and assess in these programs?
- 5.3 What kinds of educational pathways would realise the best opportunities for higher education students within TAFE?

Section Six: Likely educational and institution implications

- 6.1 In what ways will relations between tertiary education sectors change as a result of TAFE institutes offering higher education qualifications and programs?
- 6.2 How should policy and practices within the post-compulsory education sector in Australia be changed to support these kinds of programs?
- 6.3 What are the likely implications for both TAFE students and teachers' identities as educators and learners from higher education within TAFE?
- 6.4 What will be the legacy of these changes in ten years' time?

Are there any final comments that you would like to make about higher education provisions within TAFE?

Thank you for contribution to this research.

Leesa Wheelahan, Gavin Moodie, Stephen Billett and Ann Kelly

Faculty of Education Higher education in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes Schedule D (Teachers)

This interview is part of a project that has been funded by National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program that aims to gather information about the features of emerging 'higher education' provision (such as associate degrees and degrees) in TAFE institutions. We are seeking to understand why higher education programs are being offered now by TAFE, the purposes they are designed to meet, how TAFE is developing this provision and their likely educational and institutional consequences. Please contribute freely. All the data gathered will be treated confidentially and presented anonymously.

Section One: About you

- 1.1 Please briefly outline your experience as a teacher, including that as a TAFE teacher.
- 1.2 Have you been involved in higher education programs within TAFE, and if so in what ways?
- 1.3 What programs are you teaching in now?

Section Two: Kinds and qualities of these programs

- 2.1 Why are TAFE institutions offering higher education programs now?
- 2.2 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from those offered in universities?
- 2.3 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from other programs offered through TAFE?
- 2.4 What is the worth of having higher education programs in TAFE?
- 2.5 What should be the key and defining characteristics of higher education programs in TAFE?
- 2.6 What are the limitations of these arrangements?

Section Three: Teaching

- 3.1. Is teaching in higher education programs in TAFE different from or similar to teaching other programs in TAFE? In what ways?
- 3.2. In your experience, are students who do higher education programs in TAFE different from or similar to students who do other programs in TAFE? In what ways?
- 3.3. How do students who are doing HE programs see themselves? How do they describe what they do?
- 3.4. How do teachers see themselves? How do they describe what they do?
- 3.5. How do you think teaching higher education in TAFE should be organised and structured? Why?
- 3.6. What are the key challenges for TAFE teachers teaching in higher education programs?
- 3.7. What impact will the provision of higher education in TAFE have on TAFE teaching staff in general?
- 3.8. How do you see your own future as a teacher in TAFE?

Section Four: Program provision

- 4.1. What are the key challenges for TAFE institutions when offering higher education programs?
- 4.2. What kinds of relationships do teachers need to have with external stakeholders to best support higher education in TAFE?
- 4.3. What specific development is required for those who have to teach and assess in these programs?
- 4.4. How can teaching in higher education in TAFE be supported?
- 4.5. What kinds of educational pathways would realise the best opportunities for higher education students within TAFE?

Section Five: Likely educational and institution implications

- 5.1. In what ways will relations between tertiary education sectors change as a result of TAFE institutes offering higher education qualifications and programs?
- 5.2. How should policy and practices within the post-compulsory education sector in Australia be changed to support these kinds of programs?
- 5.3. What will be the legacy of these changes in ten years' time?

Are there any final comments that you would like to make about higher education provisions within TAFE?

Thank you for contribution to this research.

Faculty of Education Higher education in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes Schedule E (Directors of TAFEs with HE)

This interview is part of a project that has been funded by National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program that aims to gather information about the features of emerging 'higher education' provision (such as associate degrees and degrees) in TAFE institutions. We are seeking to understand why higher education programs are being offered now by TAFE, the purposes they are designed to meet, how TAFE is developing this provision and their likely educational and institutional consequences. Please contribute freely. All the data gathered will be treated confidentially and presented anonymously.

Section One: Higher education programs in your institution

- 1.1 In what ways have you been involved in higher education programs within TAFE?
- 1.2 What types of higher education programs would you like to see developed in your institution? (e.g. extent and areas)?

Section Two: Kinds and qualities of these programs

- 2.1 Why are TAFE institutions offering higher education programs now?
- 2.2 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from those offered in universities?
- 2.3 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from other programs offered through TAFE?
- 2.4 What is the worth of having higher education programs in TAFE?
- 2.5 What should be the key and defining characteristics of higher education programs in TAFE?
- 2.6 What are the limitations of these arrangements?

Section Three: Processes of program development

- 3.1 How have external stakeholders, such as industry and Office of Higher Education, shaped the program objectives, content and assessment practices?
- 3.2 What should be the role of external stakeholders, such as industry and the Office of Higher Education in shaping program objectives, content and assessment practices?
- 3.3 What governance, administrative and quality assurance arrangements has your institution developed to support your higher education provision?
- 3.4 What impact, if any, do the different sectoral funding, reporting, and quality assurance arrangements have on the development of higher education programs in your institution?
- 3.5 Are there any other industrial, governance or broad policy frameworks that either constrain or enable the development of higher education programs in TAFE?

Section Four: Program provision

4.1 What are the key challenges for TAFE institutions when offering higher education programs?

- 4.2 What kinds of arrangements are needed to maintain the quality of programs and standards of outcomes?
- 4.3 What specific development is required for those who have to teach and assess in these programs?
- 4.4 What kinds of educational pathways would realise the best opportunities for higher education students within TAFE?
- 4.5 What kind of partnerships do you have with universities and how has your institution's provision of higher education affected these partnerships?

Section Five: Likely educational and institution implications

- 5.1 In what ways will relations between tertiary education sectors change as a result of TAFE institutes offering higher education qualifications and programs?
- 5.2 How should policy and practices within the post-compulsory education sector in Australia be changed to support these kinds of programs?
- 5.3 What impact will the provision of higher education in TAFE have on the way TAFE students and teachers think about themselves? How will they describe what they do?
- 5.4 What will be the legacy of these changes in ten years' time?

Are there any final comments that you would like to make about higher education provisions within TAFE?

Thank you for contribution to this research.

Faculty of Education Higher education in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes Schedule F (Senior staff in TAFE planning to offer HE)

This interview is part of a project that has been funded by National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program that aims to gather information about the features of emerging 'higher education' provision (such as associate degrees and degrees) in TAFE institutions. We are seeking to understand why higher education programs are being offered now by TAFE, the purposes they are designed to meet, how TAFE is developing this provision and their likely educational and institutional consequences. Please contribute freely. All the data gathered will be treated confidentially and presented anonymously.

Section One: Higher education programs in your institution

- 1.1 What plans does your institution have to offer higher education programs (e.g. extent and areas) and how has your institution gone about developing these plans?
- 1.2 In what ways have you been involved in higher education programs within TAFE?

Section Two: Kinds and qualities of these programs

- 2.1 Why are TAFE institutions offering higher education programs now?
- 2.2 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from those offered in universities?
- 2.3 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from other programs offered through TAFE?
- 2.4 What is the worth of having higher education programs in TAFE?
- 2.5 What should be the key and defining characteristics of higher education programs in TAFE?
- 2.6 What are the limitations of these arrangements?

Section Three: Processes of program development

- 3.1 What role will external stakeholders, such as industry and Office of Higher Education, have in shaping the program objectives, content and assessment practices of your higher education programs?
- 3.2 What governance, administrative and quality assurance arrangements does your institution need to develop to support your higher education provision? How will you go about putting this in place?
- 3.3 What impact, if any, will the different sectoral funding, reporting, and quality assurance arrangements have on the development of higher education programs in your institution?
- 3.4 Are there any other industrial, governance or broad policy frameworks that either constrain or enable the development of higher education programs in TAFE?

Section Four: Program provision

4.1 What are the key challenges for TAFE institutions when offering higher education programs?

- 4.2 What kinds of arrangements are needed to maintain the quality of programs and standards of outcomes?
- 4.3 What specific development is required for those who teach and assess in these programs?
- 4.4 What kinds of educational pathways would realise the best opportunities for higher education students within TAFE?
- 4.5 What kind of partnerships do you have with universities and how will your institution's provision of higher education affect these partnerships?

Section Five: Likely educational and institution implications

- 5.1 In what ways will relations between tertiary education sectors change as a result of TAFE institutes offering higher education qualifications and programs?
- 5.2 How should policy and practices within the post-compulsory education sector in Australia be changed to support these kinds of programs?
- 5.3 What impact will the provision of higher education in TAFE have on the way TAFE students and teachers think about themselves? How will they describe what they do?
- 5.4 What will be the legacy of these changes in ten years' time?

Are there any final comments that you would like to make about higher education provisions within TAFE?

Thank you for contribution to this research.

Faculty of Education Higher education in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes Schedule G (Senior staff in TAFEs with no plans to offer HE)

This interview is part of a project that has been funded by National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program that aims to gather information about the features of emerging 'higher education' provision (such as associate degrees and degrees) in TAFE institutions. We are seeking to understand why higher education programs are being offered now by TAFE, the purposes they are designed to meet, how TAFE is developing this provision and their likely educational and institutional consequences. Please contribute freely. All the data gathered will be treated confidentially and presented anonymously.

Section One: About your institution

- 1.1 What kinds of high-level programs does your institution offer?
- 1.2 How would you like to see this provision develop?

Section Two: Kinds and qualities of these programs

- 2.1 Why are TAFE institutions in other states offering higher education programs now?
- 2.2 Why are TAFE institutions in your state not offering higher education programs now?
- 2.3 Do you think there is a role for TAFE in delivering higher education programs? Could you please explain your answer?
- 2.4 Are higher education programs in TAFE different from those offered in universities?
- 2.5 Are higher education programs in TAFE different from other programs offered through TAFE?
- 2.6 What are the benefits and limitations of higher education programs in TAFE?
- 2.7 What impact will the different state policies on delivering higher education in TAFE have on the way TAFEs develop in the different states?

Section Three: Challenges associated with higher education provision

Even though your TAFE is not planning to offer higher education programs, we are still interested in your views about the challenges associated with this provision:

- 3.1 What are the key challenges for TAFE institutions when offering higher education programs?
- 3.2 What kinds of arrangements are needed to maintain the quality of programs and standards of outcomes?
- 3.3 What specific development is required for those who have to teach and assess in these programs?
- 3.4 What kinds of educational pathways would realise the best opportunities for higher education students within TAFE?
- 3.5 What kinds of educational pathways would realise the same sort of outcomes for students who study VET programs in TAFE?
- 3.6 How will partnerships between universities and TAFEs be affected by the delivery of higher education programs in TAFE?

3.7 Are there any other industrial, governance or broad policy frameworks that either constrain or enable the development of higher education programs in TAFE?

Section Four: Likely educational and institution implications

- 4.1 In what ways will relations between tertiary education sectors change as a result of TAFE institutes offering higher education qualifications and programs?
- 4.2 How should policy and practices within the post-compulsory education and training sector change?
- 4.3 What will be the legacy of these changes in ten years' time?

Are there any final comments that you would like to make about higher education provisions within TAFE?

Thank you for contribution to this research.

Faculty of Education Higher education in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes Schedule H (Senior staff at a dual-sector university)

This interview is part of a project that has been funded by National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program that aims to gather information about the features of emerging 'higher education' provision (such as associate degrees and degrees) in TAFE institutions. We are seeking to understand why higher education programs are being offered now by TAFE, the purposes they are designed to meet, how TAFE is developing this provision and their likely educational and institutional consequences. Please contribute freely. All the data gathered will be treated confidentially and presented anonymously.

Determine interviewee's position and role within the institution

Section One: Your institution

- 1.1 How does your institution distinguish between programs offered in your higher education and TAFE divisions? How do you allocate programs to sectors?
- 1.2 Does the TAFE division offer any higher education programs, and are there any plans for it to do so?
- 1.3 Are there programs that 'span' the sectors (for example, bridging programs, dualawards, etc). If so, what is the nature of these programs and how are they located in the sectors?

Section Two: Kinds and qualities of these programs

- 2.1 Why are TAFE institutions offering higher education programs now?
- 2.2 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from those offered in universities?
- 2.3 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from other programs offered through TAFE?
- 2.4 If you think there is a role for TAFE in delivering higher education, what kinds of programs should TAFE offer?
- 2.5 If you think there is a role for TAFE in delivering higher education, what should be the key and defining characteristics of these programs?
- 2.6 What are the benefits and limitations of higher education programs in TAFE?

Section Three: Processes of program development

- 3.1 If a dual-sector university wished to develop higher education programs in its TAFE division, how would the dual-sector character of the university enable or constrain the development of these programs?
- 3.2 If a dual-sector university wished to develop higher education programs in its TAFE division, how would the different sectoral funding, reporting, and quality assurance arrangements shape the development of these programs?
- 3.3 Are there any industrial, governance or broad policy frameworks that either constrain or enable the development of higher education programs in the TAFE division of dual-sector universities?

3.4 How` are these constraining or enabling factors similar to or different than those confronted by stand-alone TAFEs?

Section Four: Program provision

- 4.1 What are the key challenges for stand-alone TAFE institutions when offering higher education programs?
- 4.2 What are the key challenges for TAFE divisions in dual-sector universities in offering higher education programs?
- 4.3 What kinds of arrangements are needed to maintain the quality of programs and standards of outcomes in stand-alone TAFEs and the TAFE division in dual-sector universities?
- 4.4 What specific development is required for those who have to teach and assess in these programs?
- 4.5 What kinds of educational pathways would realise the best opportunities for higher education students within TAFE?

Section Five: Likely educational and institution implications

- 5.1 In what ways will relations between tertiary education sectors change as a result of TAFE institutes offering higher education qualifications and programs?
- 5.2 What impact will the provision of higher education in stand-alone TAFEs have on your institution?
- 5.3 How would the provision of higher education programs offered by your TAFE division have an impact on the pathways between the sectors in your university?
- 5.4 How should policy and practices within the post-compulsory education sector in Australia change?
- 5.5 What impact will the provision of higher education in TAFE have on the way TAFE students and TAFE teachers think about themselves? How will they describe what they do?
- 5.6 What will be the legacy of these changes in ten years' time?

Are there any final comments that you would like to make about higher education provisions within TAFE?

Thank you for contribution to this research.

Faculty of Education Higher education in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes Schedule I (Directors of Offices of Higher Education or equivalent)

This interview is part of a project that has been funded by National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program that aims to gather information about the features of emerging 'higher education' provision (such as associate degrees and degrees) in TAFE institutions. We are seeking to understand why higher education programs are being offered now by TAFE, the purposes they are designed to meet, how TAFE is developing this provision and their likely educational and institutional consequences.

Please contribute freely. All the data gathered will be treated confidentially and presented anonymously.

Section One: About you & your role

- 1.1 What is your role as the Director of the Office of Higher Education (or equivalent)?
- 1.2 What is the range and nature of higher education programs brought to your office for accreditation?
- 1.3 How has this changed in recent years?
- 1.4 In what ways have you been involved with the accreditation of higher education programs within TAFE?

Section Two: Kinds and qualities of these programs

- 2.1 Why are TAFE institutions offering higher education programs now?
- 2.2 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from those offered in universities?
- 2.3 How are higher education programs in TAFE different from other programs offered through TAFE?
- 2.4 What is the worth of having higher education programs in TAFE?
- 2.5 What should be the key and defining characteristics of higher education programs in TAFE?
- 2.6 What are the limitations of higher education in TAFE?

Section Three: Processes of program approval

- 3.1 In what ways do the AQF levels and descriptors shape higher education programs in TAFE?
- 3.2 What process is used to accredit a TAFE higher education program?
- 3.3 What kind of process would you like to see a TAFE engage in when preparing a program to bring to your office?

Section Four: Challenges in program provision

- 4.1 What are the key challenges for TAFE institutions when offering higher education programs?
- 4.2 What kinds of arrangements are needed to maintain the quality of programs and standards of outcomes?

- 4.3 What specific development is required for those who have to teach and assess in these programs?
- 4.4 Is there a role for your office in ensuring the quality of programs and standards of outcomes in higher education programs in TAFE, and if there is, what is this role and how is it implemented?
- 4.5 What kinds of educational pathways would realise the best opportunities for higher education students within TAFE?

Section Five: Likely educational and institution implications

- 5.1 In what ways will relations between tertiary education sectors change as a result of TAFE institutes offering higher education qualifications and programs?
- 5.2 How should policy and practices within the post-compulsory education sector in Australia be changed to support these kinds of programs?
- 5.3 What will be the legacy of these changes in ten years' time?

Are there any final comments that you would like to make about higher education provisions within TAFE?

Thank you for contribution to this research.

Faculty of Education Higher education in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes Schedule J (Students)

This interview is part of a project that has been funded by National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation (NVETRE) program that aims to gather information about the features of emerging 'higher education' provision (such as associate degrees and degrees) in TAFE institutions. We are seeking to understand why higher education programs are being offered now by TAFE, the purposes they are designed to meet, how TAFE is developing this provision and their likely educational and institutional consequences.

Please contribute freely. All the data gathered will be treated confidentially and presented anonymously.

Section One: About you

- 1.1 What are you studying in TAFE now?
 - 1.1.1 what stage of your program are you up to?
 - 1.1.2 are you studying full-time or part-time?
 - 1.1.3 are you also working? If so what kind of work are you doing and about how many hours a week to you work?
- 1.2 What is your age-range?
 - 1.2.1 under 25 years
 - 1.2.2 25 29 years
 - 1.2.3 30 34 years
 - 1.2.4 35 39 years
 - 1.2.5 40 years and over
- 1.3 How did you find out about this program?
- 1.4 Please tell us about your prior experiences as a student
 - 1.4.1 how did you go at school?
 - 1.4.2 if you have done other study (like at TAFE or at university) how was it?
- 1.5 Why did you decide to study this program?
- 1.6 What do you hope to do when you finish it?
- 1.7 Why did you choose to study this program in TAFE and not another program at a university?
- 1.8 Why did you choose to study this program in TAFE and not other programs in TAFE like diplomas and advanced diplomas?
- 1.9 Can you get Fee-HELP to pay your fees?
 - 1.9.1 If Fee-HELP is available, what impact did it have on your decision to study this program?
 - 1.9.2 If you are paying up-front has managing the fees been difficult?

Section Two: Your experience in higher education in TAFE

2.1 What are the benefits of studying higher education programs (like your program) in TAFE?

- 2.2 What are the drawbacks of studying higher education programs (like your program) in TAFE?
- 2.3 What did you expect studying at higher education in TAFE would be like? Has it turned out the way you expected?
- 2.4 What kind of contact do you have with:
 - 2.4.1 other students studying the same program?
 - 2.4.2 students studying other programs at TAFE?
 - 2.4.3 with your teachers?
- 2.5 What have you found to be challenging in studying higher education at TAFE?
- 2.6 How are your study skills have you had to work on these since starting your program?
- 2.7 What have you found has helped you in studying higher education at TAFE?
- 2.8 How do you describe your studies to friends, family and acquaintances?

Section Three: Your thoughts on what should happen

- 3.1 What would you change about this program if you could make changes? Why?
- 3.2 What would stay the same? Why?
- 3.3 Would you recommend to your friends that they do this course? Why or why not?
- 3.4 What advice can you offer about how we can improve higher education programs at TAFE?

Are there any final comments that you would like to make about higher education provisions within TAFE?

Thank you for contribution to this research.